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Enhancing operator performance
and safety through real-time
monitoring and intervention enabled by intelligent sensing
technologies and vehicle
integration.

safety in motion
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company highlights: 2014-2015

seeing machines

Record full year revenue of
A$21.2 million, 20% higher than last year
Record number of units shipped, more
than 1800, an increase of 70%

Seeing Machines Fleet™ product
developed and launched
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Dramatic advances in automotive and
aviation technologies
safety in motion

Caterpillar licensing DSS for multiindustry, global off-road applications
Clear execution towards becoming
leading multi-industry company
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growing
revenue
2014

A$17.643m
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2015

A$ 21.201m
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section title: subsection title
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Since January 2015, we have
detected and intervened in
over 120,000 fatigue events.
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Judiciously design products and software that
ensure vehicle operators and their passengers
have the best real-time drowsiness and
inattention protection available

Seeing Machines’ purpose is to save lives by
developing and implementing operator monitoring
technologies in our chosen markets of automotive,
mining and construction, commercial road transport,
rail and aviation.
Our products employ incredibly advanced face and
eye tracking algorithms that are judiciously designed
to ensure, whatever the working conditions, vehicle
operators and their passengers have the best
real-time protection available against fatigue and
distraction to keep them as safe as possible.

Within the markets that we serve, the Seeing
Machines brand and technologies help our partners’
and our direct to industry offerings vie for market
leadership both in terms of the products and the
accompanying commercial and engineering services
on offer. This position has allowed the company to
foster close working relationships with leading global
organisations such as Caterpillar, Takata, Boeing,
Electro Motive Diesel, Eye Tracking Inc. and Samsung
to develop and promote the broad application of
head and eye tracking technologies and achieve
international market penetration.

safety in motion

Today, these advanced algorithms range from
tracking the rotational angle of an operator’s head
to understand their general point of interest; all the
way to determining eye gaze direction and eyelid
behaviour, to know exactly what they’re looking at
or if they’re experiencing micro sleeps while at the
controls. Our proprietary algorithms are embedded
in a range of products: the DSS rugged, off-road,
product is used in over 45 mines around the world to
keep thousands of heavy vehicle operators safe while

working in arduous conditions; the Seeing Machines
Fleet product will help all types of commercial
transport companies and their drivers safely deliver
their precious cargoes and get home safely to their
families; while our automotive optimized Advanced
Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS) algorithms will
soon be available in private passenger vehicles to
deliver a variety of safety, comfort and convenience
applications.
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our industry position today

Technology analysts forecast that the
computer vision market will grow
from almost (USD)$6 billion in 2014
to over $33 billion by 2020.

Source: Tractica Computer Vision Technologies and Markets Report, www.tractica.com
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The Future Position

Already today, a large number of private passenger
vehicle models are available to consumers with
elements of autonomous driving capability as
standard equipment. These cars can maintain speed
and distance from other cars while the driver keeps
their hands on the wheel to steer. Over the coming
years, these autonomous capabilities will expand
quickly to include automated steering that keeps the
vehicle in its lane on highways and, over time, offer
an “autopilot-type” driving mode that will allow the
driver to hand over control to the vehicle for extended
distances or periods of driving during both highway
and city trips (please see our CTO, Tim Edwards’,
section on autonomous cars later in this report).
For this technology to operate reliably and safely
in all situations, it is critical that drivers remain in
a position to take back control of their vehicles at
short notice if and when there are changes in the
driving environment or road conditions. To ensure
that drivers are ready and able to take control, the

For commercial road transport, picture a streamlined
convoy of three to five, invisibly connected, semiautonomous fleet trucks travelling long distances
with a single driver in the lead vehicle whose
primary functions are reduced to maintenance and
security. In this scenario, drivers only get into the
trailing trucks when the convoy’s vehicles leave
the major transport corridor and separate to travel
to pick up and drop off destinations. This convoy
technology is expected to save on driver costs and
fuel consumption with fewer long distance drivers
required and up to a 15% saving on fuel - in the
same way bicycle racers save energy by reducing
wind resistance by riding in a single file. In this
commercial operating environment, despite the
increased levels of autonomy, it is absolutely critical
that the single driver remains highly vigilant - a
challenge when a sizable portion of their driving
tasks have been eliminated for extended periods of
travel time.

safety in motion

The rapid development and uptake of technology,
cheaper processing and internet connectivity are all
driving the adoption of computer–vision enhanced
solutions while rapidly evolving sciences such as
deep learning are increasing the overall accuracy and
reliability of computer vision. As a result, the uptake
of computer vision-based technology is becoming
widespread across several industry segments and
creating a number of vertical markets – each with
their own drivers, challenges and business models.
Technology analysts forecast that the computer
vision market will grow from almost (USD)$6 billion
in 2014 to over $33 billion by 2020; led by the
automotive segment, its rapid implementation of
ADAS technology and the pending arrival of semiautonomous cars.

automotive industry and government transport
regulators agree that these vehicles will require a
real-time understanding of the drivers’ physical state
and level of attentiveness.

With radical industry-changing transformations
on our doorstep, Seeing Machines finds itself
uniquely positioned to play a leading role in the
global provision of operator monitoring across
these and other emerging large-scale applications.
From automotive manufacturers to industry Tier1 suppliers, through to the major car industry
component suppliers, numerous organisations
want access to Seeing Machines technology.
Seeing Machines is working to capitalise on
these opportunities and to ensure that our past
investments deliver the strongest possible returns to
our shareholders.
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Volvo Truck
Prototype

Seeing Machines founded
December 2000

October 2004

Spun out from the ANU, Seeing
Machines’ was founded by four
researchers: Timothy Edwards,
Sebastian Rougeaux, Alex Zalinsky
and Jochen Heinzmann; The ANU; and
Volvo: Trent Victor represented Volvo
on the board of directors.

2000

2001

The system finds a home
in the cab of a Volvo
truck, spurring additional
development.

2004

faceLAB v.1
Released
May 2001
The first commercial head
and eye tracking system that
functions outdoors in bright
sunlight.

True Field Venture
with ANU
May 2004
Seeing Machines and
the Australian National
University commence joint
development of the Truefield
Analyzer, a medical C1:E30
that exploits eye tracking
for diagnosis of various eye

First Driver Monitoring System
(DMS) Technology in Volvo
Concept Vehicle
December 2001
Volvo Technology Development (TD) used Seeing
Machines’ technology to understand fatigue &
distraction in on-road test vehicles.
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and neurological disorders,
including glaucoma.

First Monocular Camera

Toshiba 3D Laptop
Launches

January 2005

December 2010

Seeing Machines develops a singlecamera system, the enabling
technology behind the Driver State
System (DSS).

Toshiba releases a 3D laptop
which uses Seeing Machines
face tracking technology
to provide a glasses-free

DSSi Launched

3D experience, allowing

September 2009

freedom of head movement.

First real-time monitoring
product launched.

2005

2007

Initial Public Offering
November 2005
Seeing Machines successfully lists
on the AIM market of the London
Stock Exchange.

2009

2010

2011

Major Customer: Freeport
McMoran
June 2009
The first DSS trial with major mining customer
Freeport McMoran begins.

Initial Major DSS License
June 2007
DSS technology licensed to

Ken Kroeger
joins as CEO
July 2011

Dycom, a US company with
thousands of trucks on the road.
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Tucson, AZ office setup with
24/7 monitoring centre
June 2012

First road transport
customer: TOLL
January 2013

64% Revenue
Growth over
previous year
August 2013

Board
restructure

2012

2013

InTech Appointed
March 2014
Seeing Machines appoints InTech as
manufacturing partner.

2014

CAT Global
Alliance
May 2013

FOVIO launches
May 2014

DSS Hardware
Launched

Major Customer:
BHP Mt. Arthur
June 2013
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FOVIO is officially launched,
serving as a technology
platform for Seeing Machines
and best-in-class face and eye
tracking solution.

SM LATAM Joint
Venture

CES Las Vegas
January 2015

August 2014

Seeing Machines’ eye-tracking technology
was displayed on the Intel booth in an F-Type
Jaguar as part of the future automobile.

Seeing Machines signs a joint
venture with GTD Ingenieria de
Sistemas (“GTD”) to capitalise on
opportunities in Latin America.

Seeing Machines Fleet
Launched
April 2015

Company Rebranded

Seeing Machines launches the world’s

June 2014

first real-time driver fatigue & distraction
prevention solution for commercial fleets.

2015

100th Employee
June 2014

NuCoria Joint Venture
October 2014

New Offices Established:
Mountain View, CA &
Melbourne, AU

Seeing Machines and Australian National
University Sign Truefield Joint Venture for
Ophthalmic Device.

July 2014

Global DSS License
deal signed with
Caterpillar

Strategic Rail Partnership

September 2015

September 2014

Seeing Machines signs a global deal
with CAT to take over manufacturing
and sales of the DSS product.

Strategic agreement signed with CAT subsidiary
ElectroMotive Diesel (EMD).
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chairman’s letter: overview
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chairman’s letter
Terry Winters
Chairman

safety in motion

Seeing Machines set ambitious goals for the 2015
year. While the significant downturn in global mining
markets meant that we didn’t achieve the upper
level of our growth objectives, we still shipped a
record number of products, achieved record full
year revenues and better than budgeted net income
results for the year ended 30 June 2015. Strong
demand continued for the Company’s DSS products
and services for the global mining sector. It was
encouraging to see that despite the financial impact
of lower commodity prices on our mining customers,
their focus on the safety of their employees has not
diminished. Our DSS sales performance has been
aided by our strong relationship with Caterpillar
and our growing relationships with the Caterpillar
Global Dealer Network and the increased reach these
Dealers bring to our distribution capabilities.
We were also very pleased to see manufacturing
commenced and the first new lower cost road
fleet products shipped into this new and very large
market segment. We are very excited about the
level of interest we are receiving from long distance
fleet transport operators and note that this market
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is larger than the mining segment by orders of
magnitude.

seeing machines

The Company’s clear leadership in designing
and developing driver monitoring systems (DMS)
technology has led to a very significant contract to
supply our technology to one of the largest global car
manufacturers and substantial interest from other
leading global car producers.

Your Company ended the financial year with a
strong balance sheet and a significant pipeline of
opportunities that are expected to lead to further
revenue growth in the 2016 financial year.

This has reinforced the Company’s research and
development focus:

Underpinning Seeing Machines’ financial results and
future growth are the following factors:

•

•

•

•

The development of OEM products for
the world’s leading automobile and truck
manufacturers that in the foreseeable future
are expected to lead to DMS capabilities being
incorporated into most new vehicles;
The development of OEM products that will
deliver DMS capabilities into today’s fleets of
long distance road freight transport and rail
network operators;
The development of after-market products that
will deliver DMS capabilities into today’s fleets
of long distance road freight transport and rail
network operators.

We delivered revenue growth on our 2014 results of
20% to A$21.2 million (excluding foreign exchange
gains). With our planned increase in operational
costs in order to execute our business plans in
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several industry sectors, the Company made a net
loss of A$10.2 million for the 2015 financial year,
compared to a net loss of A$2.7 million for the
previous year.

•

•

•

Seeing Machines is one of the world’s leading
suppliers of Driver/Operator Safety Monitoring
technology and services;
Seeing Machines has strong relationships
with some of the world’s largest companies in
our initial target industries, including mining,
automobile safety components, rail, aviation and
consumer electronics;
Seeing Machines’ technology is widely
recognised as current best in class for operating
in outside light environments;
Seeing Machines continues to attract and retain
some of the best researchers in its space.

The focus of Seeing Machines’ Management team is
to continue developing and evolving products and
services that maintain the Company’s leadership
position in these chosen markets.

I am confident that Seeing Machines will be
successful in its ongoing evolution and that this
should underpin continued strong growth in its
financial results and market value.

Board of Directors
Your Board of Directors continue to be very engaged
in helping to steer the Company’s strategy and
assist our executive team in their development of its
organisational capabilities and capacity.
We are very pleased with the way the organisation
is maturing into a very focussed and capable team
that takes achieving its technology and performance
objectives very seriously.

Seeing Machines continues to make positive changes
to enhancing and explaining its remuneration
structure. The Board believes that these changes
strengthen the link between management incentives
and long-term growth in shareholder value and that
the structure will serve shareholders well into the
future. Please refer to page 65 for further details.

Finally, I thank our customers and shareholders for
their loyalty and support.
Terry Winters
Chairman
Seeing Machines Limited

safety in motion

Remuneration

dedication and leadership over the past 12 months. I
would also like to thank the entire Seeing Machines
family for their outstanding work this year which is
reflected in Company’s continuing growth and our
positioning as a global leader in real-time monitoring
and intervention technology that enhances operator
performance and safety through intelligent in-house
sensing technologies and analytics.

Thanks and Congratulations to the Seeing
Machines Team
I would like to acknowledge Ken Kroeger, CEO, our
executive team and my Board colleagues for their
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company
values
Our values are designed to support Seeing Machines’
vision and to help us make critical decisions. We
strongly believe that they will help shape and cement
a culture that truly reflects our identity, beliefs and
business objectives.
As we prepare to take another step in the formalisation
of our values, it’s important for all to ensure that these
values become much more than simple words on a
piece of paper.
Our values will become embedded into management
practices in an effort promote behaviours that benefit
the company and the communities both inside and
outside of the organisation. Over the coming years I
challenge us all not just to understand these values,
but also to live and apply them in our day-to-day
experience at Seeing Machines.
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integrity

Demand of ourselves and of each
other the highest standards
of individual and corporate integrity.

excellence

Continuously challenge each other
to improve our products, processes
and ourselves.

humility

Seek honest feedback; be open to
personal change and learn from

teamwork

Foster an environment that

safety in motion

both mistakes and success.

encourages open sharing of ideas,
collaboration and a collegiate
approach to business.

accountability

Honour commitments and take
personal responsibility for actions
and results.

innovation

Foster an environment that
encourages innovation, embraces
creativity and results in an open
minded approach to positive
change.
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executive
team

Seeing Machines’ executive team is responsible
for leading the organisation’s growth and strategic
initiatives. Working together with the Board and
our strategic partners, the group develops and
implements strategy and business plans while
ensuring that the growing business runs effectively
in a hands-on fashion.

Ken Kroeger

Paul Angelatos

Tim Edwards

James Walker

Mark Penman

CEO

COO

CTO

CFO

SVP Sales
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Nicole Makin

David Nagy

Buzz Dean

Andrew Neilson

Erica Collins

SVP People, Culture
& Quality

SVP Product
Management

SVP Engineering

SVP Legal &
Commercial

SVP Operations
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ceo update
Ken Kroeger
CEO

Man plans, God laughs - The past year was meant
to have been a great year for Seeing Machines…
but if you compare our performance to our plans, it
wasn’t. Despite an incredibly strong sales finish to
the year, a sound business strategy, keen automotive
OEM interest in our ADAS driver monitoring
technology, development of a new Fleet product,
exceptional advances in our core automotive and
aviation algorithms and a recapitalisation of the
organisation, a number of factors both in and out
of our control, prevented Seeing Machines from
attaining our aspirational performance targets
for the period.

the unforeseen, to quickly adjust strategies and
overcome significant setbacks. Given both our
strong year-end financial results and the significant
advancements made across the business, I’m proud
of our performance and remain convinced that our
multi-sector business and technology strategies are
sound, that our partner selection remains warranted
and most importantly, Seeing Machines, both as a
business and from a company culture perspective
has matured to a point where we can nimbly adjust
course and overcome these types of events and
setbacks and importantly, becoming a true learning
organisation.

Man plans, God laughs.
While our goals might have been lofty to start, we
faced some headwinds, including: capital spending
constraints across the mining industry due to
commodity prices dropping to their lowest levels
since the global financial crisis; tasking our sales
force with on-boarding Caterpillar dealers instead of
focusing on direct sales; automotive partner Takata
heavily affected by a product recall (unrelated to the
product we are developing); and it taking us a little
longer than expected to have our new Fleet product
finally ready for shipping.
Apart from our quantifiable business performance,
I firmly believe that one of the key measures that
define an organisation is its ability to deal with

I’d like to use this opportunity to thank the Board
of Directors who continue to govern and provide
direction and support, the executive management
and their teams for their firm commitment to
achieving our goals and to all of our committed stake
holders – shareholders, suppliers and customers for
their contributions to helping Seeing Machines take
another step towards becoming a high-performing
organisation without losing our agility and capacity
to innovate and deliver ever improving technology
enabled solutions.
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Multi-sector Business Model
Building Momentum

seeing machines

In June 2014, Seeing Machines launched a six-sector,
transport focused, operator monitoring and safety
intervention strategy. The strategy targets the global
sectors of mining, commercial road transport, rail,
automotive, aviation and consumer electronics.
A key part of the sector selection process included
a conscious decision to enter only sectors where we
felt able to attain a market leadership position. With
an appreciation of the benefits that partnering with a
dominant sector player would contribute towards our
goal, we have engaged closely with major partners
in each of the sectors other than commercial road
transport. Today, we continue to engage with these
partners through both long-term contractual
agreements and to explore potential additional
relationships through early-stage memorandums of
understanding.
Access to our partner’s deep understanding of their
industry allows us to reduce entry and execution
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risk and to build products and solutions that would
otherwise prove almost impossible. Our partners
provide:
•
•

•

•

•

•

Brand credibility and technology validation,
Deep insight into the core challenges faced by
vehicle operators within the sectors that they
serve and a clear understanding of solution
requirements,
Input from key subject matter experts that help
define product features, optimize performance
and ensure reliability,
Access to data, test facilities and real-world
industrial environments that allow us to iterate
our design and improve performance,
Introductions to new customers that could
become early technology adopters and potential
trial partners,
Channels to market that allow us to enter new
markets with a higher velocity.

Seeing Machines remains committed to our
evolving multi-sector strategy and collaborative
business and technology co-development
relationships with our key partners.

safety in motion
33
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DSS is used by some of the world’s highest
performing mining companies to protect their
workforce from fatigue related driving risks
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The Mining Sector And Our
Partnership With Caterpillar
The mining industry was Seeing Machines entry point
into vehicle operator monitoring. Over the last six
years, the company invented and launched the DSS
product, created a market for it within the mining
sector, promoted the DSS brand, secured a number
of major customers, established a strong reputation,
claimed a leadership position in the sector and
established a long-term alliance with Caterpillar.

All of the DSS units sold and commissioned in the
last two years contribute to a recurring revenue
stream for software maintenance and monitoring
and analytical services delivered through our Tucson
Arizona monitoring centre.
Seeing Machines’ formal relationship with Caterpillar
has recently taken an historic step – transitioning
from it’s initial mining retail focus now to a broad
royalty based licensing agreement. Through
execution of the final phases of our Alliance, we
have formally granted Caterpillar the sole rights to
manufacture, sell and service a CAT branded DSS
product line; replacing Seeing Machines as not
only the vendor, but also as the ongoing service
and support provider for all of Caterpillars ruggedoff-road fields of operation (mining, construction,
cement and quarry, paving, forestry, marine and

Caterpillar will exclusively market DSS and Seeing
Machines Fleet products as their only in-cab
operator fatigue and distraction monitoring solutions
in the agreed Caterpillar industries.
Caterpillar is in the process of mobilising both its
corporate enterprise and empowering their 180-plus
global dealers to adopt the technology as a core
component of Cat Connect - an initiative designed
to help Caterpillar customers monitor, manage and
enhance operations and provide more control of their
operations and job sites.

safety in motion

With over four thousand units sold since the
product’s inception, some of the highest performing
mining companies in the world now protect their
workforce from vehicle operator fatigue and
distraction related risk with the DSS product.
Included in the more than 45 mining operations
where DSS is used, is near-100% global haul truck
coverage at Freeport-McMoRan, entire-fleet
installation at BHP Iron Ore in Western Australia and
over 180 trucks at one of the world’s largest mines,
BHP Escondida in Chile.

industrial operations). Under this final agreement,
in addition to a front loaded 17.5 million (US) dollar
cash contribution over the next four years, Seeing
Machines will receive a per-unit royalty fee on the
sale of all DSS hardware sold by Caterpillar through
their global dealer network and on all DSS related
monitoring and analytics services provided by
Caterpillar Safety Solutions on a per-truck, permonth basis. The agreement also provides Caterpillar
with access to Seeing Machines’ Fleet product in
order for them to service their customers’ broader
requirements.

DSS will be promoted and expanded through
Caterpillar Safety Solutions who have recently
introduced a comprehensive Fatigue Risk
Management System (FRMS) that employs DSS as
fatigue risk measurement tool. The FRMS program
is generating significant interest from customers
across all of Caterpillar’s fields of operation and has
resulted in a number of new DSS customer trials that
are expected to lead to fleet deployments.
The agreement with provides Caterpillar with the
ability to fund future development programs for new
DSS features and new computer-vision based safety
products and solutions.

35

ceo update

The Automotive Sector

seeing machines

Understanding car drivers has been a big part of
Seeing Machines’ business since its foundation
within the Australian National University. Over
the years, our focus has turned to measuring
distraction, drowsiness & situational awareness
behind the wheel in order to improve occupant safety,
convenience and the overall driving experience.
Supported by the view of automotive analysts, we
strongly believe that one of the emerging technology
megatrends will be in-vehicle, camera-based driver
monitoring.
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The current interest in Seeing Machines’
driver monitoring technology from automotive
manufacturers (OEMs) is focused on the pending
implementation of semi-autonomous driving features
and the hand-off between manual and automatic
driving. Seeing Machines’ Driver Monitoring Engine,
a suite of ADAS algorithms, is being developed
with input from a number of class-leading OEMs
who are looking for ways to provide their vehicles
with a better understanding of the driver’s state in
real-time. In the near-future, vehicles empowered
with such awareness will be able to make safer,
smarter decisions, providing smooth transition to
autonomous driving modes, smart Heads Up Displays
(HUD), intelligent mirrors, driver identification and
other features that enhance the driving experience.

Seeing Machines and Takata have worked very
closely together for over two years and our first joint
OEM project is on track for delivery. In parallel with
our continuing work with Takata, Seeing Machines
is progressing relationships with a number of global
automotive OEMs. One of the ways we are doing this
is by supplying a PC-based variant of our automotive
technology that allows the automotive manufacturer
to easily map Driver Monitoring capability to their
ADAS and autonomous vehicle technology road
maps and to input into their technology packaging
strategy for new vehicles, model range interiors and
dashboards. Based on orders for more than forty
of these systems from thirteen manufacturers,
our collaborative interaction with additional
manufacturers and frequent inquiries from other
industry suppliers, there is clear indication that
Seeing Machines’ algorithms outperform those of
our competitors. Our R&D efforts are geared towards
a future generation of technologies that deliver the
feature sets these potential customers are asking for
and that will support all of the emerging ADAS and
autonomous vehicle requirements. Further on in this
Report, our CTO Tim Edwards’ shares his informed
view on the current and future state of autonomous
vehicles and Seeing Machines’ role in this rapidly
evolving area.

safety in motion

Seeing Machines’ automotive ADAS algorithms provide a
car’s safety systems with an understanding of the driver’s
state in real-time – allowing the car’s central system to
make instant decisions based on an understanding of
what is happening both outside and inside of the vehicle.
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Seeing Machines launches first-generation on-road
Fleet product – a less rugged version of the proven
DSS mining product at a price point that will support
broad uptake by the commercial road transport sector.
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The Commercial Road Transport Sector
Over the last two years, Seeing Machines has
supplied over four hundred ultra-rugged DSS
systems to fleet operators for use in road-going
trucks. While some of these DSS customers
directly or indirectly service the mining sector, their
managers voiced an interest in having access to a
less costly DSS variant for application in a broader
range of their fleet vehicles.

A number of large Seeing Machines Fleet trials
are being planned with potential customers and a
number of existing customers have already placed
initial orders for the product. We have set ourselves
an extremely ambitious Fleet sales target for the
2016 financial year and look forward to reporting on
our performance throughout the year.

safety in motion

During the 2015 financial year we developed and
launched a new commercial road transport product
named Seeing Machines Fleet. Seeing Machines
Fleet is based on the mining DSS product and will be
sold together with a 24/7 monitoring subscription.
We see this product as a launch point for a number of
new features and functions and expect this sector of
the business to grow into one of our most significant
revenue generating areas with incremental annual
recurring monitoring fees.

While Seeing Machines is selling our Fleet product
directly to end user companies through our
international sales team led by Mark Penman (our
SVP Sales, who joined us in 2015), we have also
appointed a number of distributors in various
regions. These include: IUM in Africa, FleetSafe in
New Zealand, Convoy Technologies in the USA, and
Caterpillar at a global level for their key fields of
operation. The Seeing Machines Fleet product will
also be distributed in Chile by Seeing Machines’ Latin
American joint venture. We are also in the process of
establishing Fleet sales partnerships in other large
markets.
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The Aviation Sector And Our
Work With Boeing
The Aerospace industry is a complex, capital
intensive, highly regulated and competitive
industry. Most of the key players are global Tier-1
organisations, including; Aircraft Manufacturers,
Airlines, Air Freight Carriers, Air Forces, Simulator
Manufacturers, Flight Training Schools, Avionics
Manufacturers, Regulators and Air Navigation
Service Providers. The Aerospace Industry’s top 100
providers generated in excess of US$600 billion
in revenue in 2014, and this does not include the
airlines.

aerospace operations, without impacting on the
relevant and demanding standards of the industry.

The commercial aviation sector has a strong growth
forecast of over 5% year on year for the next 20 years
and forecast statistics include:

Using our latest eye gaze-tracking technology,
combined with BR&T data software, this system
provides real-time evaluation of a pilot’s instrument
scan and flight deck interaction. The pilot’s
instrument scan pattern can be compared to a
database of applied best practice relative to the
phase of flight and aircraft profile. This analysis
enables the automatic detection of performance
breakdowns, which can be relayed to the instructor
in real time via a wireless tablet PC.

•

world commercial airline fleet will double in size
over the next 20 years to +43,500 aircraft

•

over 500,000 new pilots will be required over the
next 20 years

•

emerging markets will lead the growth with
significant growth forecast in Asia Pacific and
UAE, whilst North America and Europe will
maintain steady growth

•

the number of global air traffic hubs will double
over the next 20 years, significantly increasing
the demand for air traffic controllers

The aerospace industry is a natural target for
Seeing Machines. The use of our technology and
engineering capability adds significant value to the
sector - from the selection of pilots, to enhancing
their enablement and assessment/licensing and
ultimately through to supporting the monitoring of

Seeing Machines has been working collaboratively
with Boeing Research and Technology (BR&T) for
the past three years, providing the eye tracking
technology within a prototype tool that monitors and
measures a pilot’s situation awareness. Earlier this
year, our jointly developed solution was installed
in a Boeing Flight Services 737 Full Motion Flight
Simulator at the Brisbane International Airport.

This initial training application in simulators and
training aircraft is expected to help Seeing Machines
refine the technology to a point where it will be
considered for application in commercial aviation.
Seeing Machines’ next steps in Aerospace include
further collaborations with Boeing stakeholders,
International Airlines, Flight Training Schools and ongoing discussions with Aviation Regulators. Through
these relationships and engagements, over the next
12 months Seeing Machines expects to implement
several operational solutions and prototypes.

Source: Boeing - Current Market Outlook , www.boeing.com
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Working collaboratively with Boeing, Seeing Machines
has installed the first joint developed prototypes into
commercial aviation simulators.
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Safety requirements and train monitoring systems
have become key topics within the industry. During
the year, Seeing Machines expects to work with
Progress Rail and Electro Motive Diesel to jointly
developed evolutionary safety products for the sector.
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The Rail Sector And Our Partners
Progress Rail and Electro Motive Diesel
address both legislative requirements and railroad
operator driven safety and efficiency improvements.

The rail industry is continuously evolving in response
to economic change, freight and passenger transport
preferences. Safety requirements and train
monitoring systems have become key topics within
the industry and are transforming rapidly in effort to

We will work collaboratively with Progress Rail and
EMD to trial our technology with rail customers and
then to develop a rail specific operator monitoring
solution to help operators remain vigilant during the
critical sectors of their journey and address periods
of fatigue during demanding work stints.

While difficult to confirm, it is believed that
today’s total accessible market is estimated to
comprise close to two hundred thousand, freight
and passenger, locomotives worldwide. EMD builds
approximately 200 new locomotives per year with
Progress Rail refurbishing an equal annual number.

safety in motion

Progress Rail is one of the largest suppliers of
railroad and transit system products and services
worldwide. With their acquisition of Electro-Motive
Diesel (EMD), Progress Rail is also the world’s
largest builder of diesel-electric locomotives for all
commercial railroad applications including freight,
intercity passenger, commuter, switching, industrial
and mining. Progress Rail and EMD are in turn part
of the broader Caterpillar group of companies.
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Over the last twelve months, Seeing Machines’
capability and industry achievements have been
publicly recognised by a number of organisations.
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External recognition
Australian Export Awards

Seeing Machines is honoured to have earned BRW’s
prestigious awards for Australia’s Most Innovative
Medium Size Company & for Australia’s Most
Innovative Product. BRW supports entrepreneurs
making the journey from start-up to rich list. The
publication focuses on innovators, disruptors and
leaders who are at the cutting edge of industry

safety in motion

Seeing Machines is proud to have been selected
as the 2014 Australian Capital Territory Exporter
of the Year. The Australian Export Awards is a
national program that recognises and honours
Australian companies engaged in international
business who have achieved sustainable growth
through innovation and commitment. The Awards
measure businesses against their peers based on
the strength of their international growth, marketing
and financial strategies. This national program is one
of the longest running business awards programs in
Australia and now in its 52nd year.

Business Review Weekly, Most
Innovative Companies

Gartner Cool Vendors, Automotive
Electronics
Seeing Machines was selected as one of three Cool
Vendors that develop innovative technology in the
areas of human-machine interface, embedded vision
processing and laser-based sensing for automotive
applications.
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chief operating
officer update
Paul Angelatos
COO
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“A corporation is a living organism; it has to continue
to shed its skin. Methods have to change. Focus has to
change. Values have to change. The sum total of those
changes is transformation.”
- Andy Grove, Intel Corporation

The formal establishment of our Company Values
is an important step for us in the maturing of our
business. I say “formal” establishment as the value
set was not imposed on the Company by the CEO or
Executive Team but rather evolved from the inherent
traits and values that were already evident in the way
in which our people go about their business.
The six Company Values (Integrity, Excellence,
Humility, Teamwork, Accountability and Innovation)
are equally important however there are four that
have become the beacons for the operational
elements of the Company as we strive to continue
the journey of maturing our products, services and
reputation with customers. Excellence - Continuously
challenging each other to improve our products,
processes and ourselves; Teamwork - Fostering
an environment that encourages open sharing of
ideas, collaboration and a collegiate approach to
business; Accountability - Honouring commitments
and taking personal responsibility for actions and
results; and Innovation - Fostering an environment
that encourages innovation, embraces creativity
and results in an open minded approach to positive
change. These are the values that are guiding Seeing
Machines along the path to maturity. Nicole Makin,
our SVP People, Culture and Quality addresses our

Value set elsewhere in this report, however they
deserve mention here as well as our Values drive the
way we improve our business, support our customers
and look after our people.

Adherence to Company Values
are driving change across the
entire business operations.
The COO role was established in December 2014 in
recognition of the growth of the business and the
span of responsibility that CEO Ken Kroeger was
dealing with on a day to day basis. The creation
of this role and my subsequent appointment, has
allowed Ken to focus on refining the business
strategy, articulating his vision for the Seeing
Machines technology and creating the partnerships
and alliances that are enabling us to execute the
strategy. The operational elements of the business
(Sales, Engineering, Operations and HR) are charged
with the responsibility for implementing the strategy
which will ultimately reward our shareholders for
the faith they have shown in the Company and our
management team.
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In direct reference to the core value of pursuing
Excellence, I am proud to be able to highlight a
number of key achievements in the business during
the 2015 financial year. These achievements should
be considered against a backdrop of what has
been a challenging market, particularly with falling
commodity prices in the mining sector. Despite this,
the Sales Team again delivered on expectations
with increased revenues in the mining business. Of
significance was the completion of DSS deployments
to two of our largest customers, BHP Billiton Iron
Ore and Freeport. Both of these customers have
recognised the importance our technology plays
in ensuring the safety of their operators and have
expanded the presence of our systems within their
fleets. This time last year Seeing Machines had
systems deployed on 46 sites globally. We have
increased that penetration by 71% and now can be
found on 79 sites around the world. We expect this to
increase exponentially with the introduction of the
Seeing Machines Fleet Product.

safety in motion

= Seeing Machines locations
= DSS enabled sites
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We recognised about two years ago, after becoming
firmly established in the mining sector, that the
application for the DSS product in “over the road”
transport would be well received from companies
that have a genuine concern for the safety of their
drivers. The challenge for Seeing Machines at the
time was to develop a system that was cost effective
for large scale deployments. With support from
our Hong Kong-based manufacturing partner, we
have been able to develop a road transport specific
product which will deliver the same benefits to the
road transport industry that our mining customers
currently experience.
The relationship with our manufacturing partner is
providing exceptional benefits to Seeing Machines.
Moving our manufacturing to China was a major
undertaking for Seeing Machines and a decision
that was not taken lightly. Our cost per unit to
manufacture (complete system) has dropped by
almost a quarter, but of equal importance is the
contribution that our partner’s team continue to
make to our engineering efforts. Their experience
in mass production of electronic goods has been
critical as we transition our focus to the commercial
Fleet market.
The development of this new product has not all
been smooth sailing. What is important though, is
how we learn from the experience and feed these
lessons into our future developments.
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Continuous Improvement is central to our core Value
of Excellence. We are midway through implementing
our Quality Management System with external
certification due in December 2015. The exercise
of documenting, and in some cases, developing
new processes, has highlighted the complexity and
diversity of our business as well as the opportunity
to recognise efficiency gains across a range of
functions.

We take quality management
seriously and will use the
construct of the formal QMS
to adopt a robust continuous
improvement regime.
One of the challenges and areas of focus in this
past year has been structuring our Operations and
Engineering teams, to ensure that they are readily
scalable to support our customers and products as
sales rapidly increase. We are constantly striving
to improve the quality of services while ensuring
that we can deliver these in the most cost effective
manner. Central to this continuous improvement
is leveraging the capabilities of our corporate
information management systems and undertaking
better analysis of the data we collect.

Using the analytics that are available through our
customer and technical support system we have
been able to clearly identify trends in the technical
issues reported, the time taken to resolve issues,
the percentage of issues that require escalation,
training requirements for our technical and customer
service staff as well as how to better educate our
customers in the use of the DSS technology. As our
operations mature, we plan for us to benchmark
ourselves against similar customer and technical
support organisations and to continuously challenge
ourselves to improve and exceed customer
expectations.

•

Transition all DSS Mining Sales and Product
Support to Caterpillar

•

Extending functionality and reducing the cost
of our Seeing Machines Fleet Product

•

Extracting cost while improving the customer
experience with our supply chain

•

Leveraging the capabilities of our business
information systems to support commercial
decisions

•

Accreditation of the Quality Management
System

safety in motion

We have made some great advances in the area of
Supply Chain Management and Inventory control.
The implementation of an enterprise resource
planning system during this financial year has
allowed us to make further process improvements
and develop more sophisticated reporting and
analytics around our supply chain management.
In the forthcoming year we anticipate seeing a
significant reduction in the cost per unit for handling,
shipping and storage.

Focus areas for 2016

Our partnership with Caterpillar in the mining
business is now well cemented. Caterpillar’s global
dealer network and sales and support reach will
allow us to focus our own integral resources on
further developing and supporting our Seeing
Machines Fleet product and customers.
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Working with our partners to develop technologies
that are helping make the world’s operators, pilots
and drivers improve their performance and keep
them and their passengers or cargo safer.
safety in motion

Our capabilities and products have been validated by
some of the world’s highest performing companies.
In each of their industry sectors, we work closely
with our partner to input into the design and supply
of their world-class products and services though the
sharing of our knowledge, the supply of our software
and the provision of critical computer-vision and
hardware related engineering and design services.
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Seeing Machines and Caterpillar enjoy a
mutually exclusive license agreement to deliver
fatigue monitoring technologies and solutions
across all of their global fields of operation.

safety in motion

Caterpillar is the world’s leading manufacturer of
construction and mining equipment, diesel and natural
gas engines, industrial gas turbines and diesel-electric
locomotives. Caterpillar is ranked number one in its
industry and number 54 overall in the current Fortune
500 and has a dealer network that services over 180
countries.
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Seeing Machines is working closely with
Progress Rail and Electro Motive Diesel
to co-develop an integrated locomotive
operator fatigue and inattention monitoring
capabilities for the world’s rail operators.

safety in motion

Progress Rail and Electro Motive Diesel form one of the
world’s leading suppliers of new and remanufactured
locomotive, railcar products and services to the
railroad industry. Combined, they offer one of the
world’s most extensive rail service and supply
networks serving customers in a network of more
than 165 locations across the United States, Canada,
Mexico, Brazil, Italy, Germany and the United Kingdom.
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Seeing Machines works collaboratively with
automotive Tier 1 Takata to develop driver
monitoring technologies for the global OEM
automotive industry.
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Takata Corporation is a leading global supplier
of automotive safety systems including steering
wheels, airbag systems, seat belt restraint
systems, electronics, sensors, interior trim, and
child restraint systems. The company supplies all
major automotive manufacturers in the world and
currently operates 56 plants in 20 countries with
more than 43 thousand employees.

safety in motion
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Seeing Machines is collaborating with Boeing
Research and Technology to co-develop
revolutionary pilot training technologies for the
commercial aviation sector.
Boeing is the world’s largest aerospace company and
leading manufacturer of commercial jetliners. As
one of the top United States exporters, the company
supports airlines and U.S. and allied government
customers in 150 countries. Boeing products and
tailored services include commercial and military
aircraft, satellites, weapons, electronics and defense
systems, launch systems, advanced information and
communication systems, and performance-based
logistics and training.

Source: Boeing - Current Market Outlook , www.boeing.com
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NEW PILOTS BY REGION (2015-2034)

CIS
3%
17,000

Africa
3%
18,000

Latin America
8%
47,000

World Total
558,000

Asia Pacific
41%
226,000

safety in motion

Middle East
11%
60,000

North America
17%
95,000

Europe
17%
95,000

Source: Boeing - Pilot & Technician Outlook, www.boeing.com
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Seeing Machines licenses Fovio hardware
and software to Eye Tracking, Inc. and
works collaboratively to ensure that their
research products remain at the forefront of
their industry.
Eye Tracking, Inc. is the world leader in the supply of
eye tracking research tools and supporting services.
As a true pioneer in the field of precision eye tracking
research and technology, the company continues to
focus on their specialist software EyeWorks™ and
a comprehensive set of services. The organisation
is home to a full service usability testing lab and
marketing research facility. Their EyeWorks™ software
is used by leading research institutions, government
agencies, military research organisations and
corporations worldwide. EyeWorks™ is empowered
through exclusive access to Seeing Machines’ Fovio
research cameras and eye tracking software.
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human
resources
Nicole Makin

SVP People, Culture & Quality
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Our people continue to be the focus for People &
Culture. We attract top talent from around the globe
and once we have found someone we want to ensure
that they assimilate well into Seeing Machines and
are productive as well as enjoy their work. We have
been very successful with our recruiting strategy
and once someone has been successful through our
interviewing process both us and them know exactly
how they are going to contribute to SM. This really
means that new employees ‘hit the ground running’
and understand their value immediately. Sometimes
it takes us time to find just that right person and
sometimes even longer for them to join us, but we
can be very patient. Once someone joins us we work
hard to ensure that they have the support that they
need to do their job. We are very lucky in that our
purpose for being is compelling and resonates easily
with both existing and potential employees.

Remuneration
People & Culture is positioned well for the coming
year, partnering with managers and employees to
help them achieve Seeing Machines’ goals. Our new
remuneration framework has been well received,
offering managers guidelines for both new employee
negotiations and remuneration reviews. Our
remuneration practices continue to reward those
who do a great job through market competitive fixed
remuneration. For key employees we added in a
short term “at risk” component based on individual
KPI achievement. For the coming year we will add a
long term incentive component into our remuneration
mix - based on KPI achievement - for those handful
of employees who are integral to our business. The
incentive will be based on shares vesting over three
years. All non-Executive employees will again be
eligible for a general offer of shares on the meeting
of company objectives.

ePerformance Management
To complement our remuneration approach, in 2015
we implemented a new ePerformance Management
System and conducted staff training across Australia
and the US. This was an opportune time to refresh
the Values of Seeing Machines and to introduce Core

Competencies. We refreshed the Values to better
articulate the Value of Teamwork and to include
Innovation as a stand-alone Value. We defined
three sets of Core Competencies based on level and
included an additional set for Engineering. These
competencies give focus to staff development which
is a conscious part of our performance management
processes. There is more work to do in the coming
year with embedding performance management and
development as part of our culture.

Policies
There have been a number of policies introduced
throughout the year including: Code of Conduct;
Workplace Discrimination and Harassment; Work
Health Safety; and Workplace Bullying. The objective
with polices is to develop and release policies that
are either legally required, that help staff understand
important business processes, or that enhance
the employment experience. We are proud of our
Parental Leave Policy and our Community Service
Leave Policy which we feel embrace the culture of
Seeing Machines.

Homegrown Talent
We managed 42 internal candidates and 880 external
candidates, filling 45 positions throughout the 2015
financial year. We have been pleased to be able
to promote 15 employees internally through our
Homegrown Talents Scheme which demonstrates
our commitment to employee development. Six of
our new employees came via our Employee Referral
Program. Thankfully our eRecruitment solution is
now implemented and we began recruiting via this
system on 1 July 2015. The eRecruitment solution
streamlines advertising, candidate management, and
CV database management.
As we look towards the 2016 financial year, our first
employee satisfaction survey, to be conducted in
September 2015, will help shape our activities for
employee engagement, identifying remedial steps
but more excitingly strengths that we can build on
for our employee value proposition. Another area of
focus will be staff development especially for those
identified through succession planning.
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making sense of
a driverless future
Tim Edwards
CTO

Over the past twelve months there has been a
growing global awareness of the automated car
concept and the many social benefits that the
technology is poised to provide. The question is
how will this transport revolution occur, what
technologies will be enable it, who will be the
winners and losers, and over what timescale will
the mass market transition to the mythical “driverless” vehicle?

66

To understand this transition, it is important to
understand the technological stages that are
planned. The Society of Automotive Engineers, in a
February 2015 report, proposed six standard levels
of automated driving, shown in the table below.

LEVELS OF DRIVING AUTOMATION
SAE
level

SAE name

SAE narrative definition

Execution of
steering and
acceleration/
deceleration

Monitoring of
driving
environment

Fall-back
performance
of dynamic
driving task

System
capability
(driving
mode)

BASt level

NHSTA
level

0

No
automation

the full-time performance by the humandriver of all aspects of the dynamic driving
task, even when enhanced by warning or
intervention systems

Human driver

Human driver

Human driver

n.a.

Driver Only

0

Driver
assisted

the driving mode-speciﬁc execution by a
driver assistance system of either steering or
acceleration/deceleration using information
about the driving environment and the
expectation that the human driver performs
all remaining aspects of the dynamic driving
task

Human driver
and system

Human driver

Human driver

Some
driving
modes

Assisted

1

Partial
automation

the driving mode-speciﬁc execution by one
or more driver assistance systems of both
steering and acceleration/deceleration using
information about the driving environment
and with the expectation that the human
driver performs all remaining
remaning aspects of the
dynamic driving task

System

Human driver

Human driver

Some
driving
modes

Partial
Automated

2

3

Conditional
automation

the driving mode-speciﬁc performance by an
automated driving system of which all
aspects of the dynamic driving task with the
expectation that the human driver will
respond appropriately to a request to
intervene

System

System

Human driver

Some
driving
modes

Highly
Automated

3

4

High
automation

the driving mode-speciﬁc performance by an
automated driving system of all aspects of
the dynamic driving task, even if a human
driver does not respond appropriately to a
request to intervene

System

System

System

Some
driving
modes

Fully
Automated

Full
automation

the full-time performance by the automated
driving system of all aspects of the dynamic
driving task under all roadway and
environmental conditions that can be
managed by a human driver

System

Human driver
monitors
the driving
environment

1

2

Automated
driving system
“system”
monitors
the driving
environment

5

3/4
System

System

All driving
modes

In summary:
•

•

•

Level-1 is already here, for example those
vehicles which offer parking assist or adaptive
cruise control (ACC) technology.
Level-2 vehicles are anticipated to be on the
market in early 2017 and will steer, accelerate
and brake in response to surrounding vehicles.
These systems will initially only operate on
highways and they will require the driver to
monitor the road nearly continuously while the
system is in operation. Due to the fact that the
driver will not be holding the wheel, the vehicle
must visually monitor the driver to ensure they
are in-turn monitoring the road scene.
Level-3 vehicles are expected to come to market
in the post 2020 time-frame. This is the moment
where the driver no longer needs to monitor the
road continuously and may comfortably play
with their smartphone. However Level-3 systems
will not operate on all roads and in all conditions
and therefore the driver will still be required to

•

•

take control when notified. This implies that the
driver must be monitored to ensure that they are
not impaired in some way (asleep, drunk etc.)
and are able to resume control.
Level-4 vehicle technology is being
demonstrated by Daimler, Google and others.
These companies are showing off demonstration
vehicles that can certainly operate in complex
environments but are still limited by sensing
reliability and cost issues. Level-4 systems may
achieve mass adoption in car sharing services by
2020 and also potentially as an optional feature
on some luxury vehicles, but are only expected
to operate in good weather conditions and on
certain road types.
Analyst predictions of when Level-5 cars will
appear are highly variable. These are cars
that can drive us across the country without
any other assistance, on any road type in any
weather condition. Our view is that sensing
technology will not be suitable until 2030.

Source: SAE International www.sae.org
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It is also important to
understand that an
automated vehicle
is very different to a
driver-less one.

One question that is frequently asked is what will
be the demand for driver monitoring technology as
vehicles increase their automation level?
Our view is that driver monitoring will be an essential
and key safety component in all future vehicle
automation levels wherever there remains the option
for the legal entity of “the driver” to still be a human
being. We predict that DMS technology will be a
future requirement with any vehicle having a steering
wheel and requiring a driver’s license to operate,
regardless of automation level.
It is also important to understand that an
“automated vehicle” is very different to a “driverless” one. Even as mature, reliable and cost effective
Level-4 and 5 technology becomes available in
perhaps some 10 to 15 years from now, one has to
ask if consumers will ever allow the option of manual
control of the vehicle completely removed?

Today, Seeing Machines remains focused on
exploiting the driver-facing camera mega-trend that
is unfolding in the market. Just like when cameras
appeared in computer screens, then in phones (first
on the back, then the front), then in TVs; society is
now poised for cameras to appear in vehicle cabins.
These cameras will provide a clear view of a driver’s
face and eyes and allow for reliable sensing of
attention, distraction, drowsiness, identity and more.
Whilst the safety requirements for semi-automated
driving are pushing driver-facing cameras to be
adopted by auto-makers, once these cameras
become an established standard, then the rich datastream from the driver monitoring system (DMS)
will enable numerous other value-enhancing vehicle
functions. These will include a myriad of comfort
and convenience features from simple items such
as automatic mirror adjustment, driver recognition
and automatic preferences, lighting level controls,
distraction safe video conferencing, all the way to
intelligent headlight controls, augmented reality 3D
displays and intelligent human-machine interfaces
that will understand not only speech, but intent
derived from driving context.
On the Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS)
front, beyond the obvious benefits of distraction

As such, Seeing Machines is poised to provide the
key sensing for many of these comfort, convenience
and safety functions and our competitive position in
the automotive market will be maintained through
the fact that our driver monitoring hardware and
software will ultimately have ownership over the
original raw information from the sensor, and thus
Seeing Machines will be first in line to provide
additional functionality to other vehicle systems
downstream.
Another key aspect of Seeing Machines’ business
strategy is our Seeing Machines Fleet after-market
product and the synergy it offers with DMS in the
OEM automotive market.
The Seeing Machines Fleet product gives us
an envious head-start in the race for data and
knowledge about distracted and drowsy drivers, and
indeed, what to do about them. It also operates in the
professional driver domain (long-haul trucks, taxis,
coaches) where the ADAS market for drowsiness and
distraction arguably leads the private car market by
several years.

safety in motion

Then there is the anticipated morphing of driver
monitoring technology into occupant monitoring.
Even without a legally responsible human driver,
it is hard to foresee a future where the vehicle will
not be required to sense the state of all the vehicle
occupants.

and drowsiness monitoring, DMS promises to
unlock additional value inherent in exterior scene
monitoring technologies such as forward collision
warning (FCW) by connecting the driver’s attention to
the road scene and thereby enabling more intelligent
warning mechanisms and predictive safety aspects
such as when to engage the brakes.

Seeing Machines will leverage the synergies between
Seeing Machines Fleet and automotive DMS. While
DMS demands very low-cost reliable computer vision
core technology, Seeing Machines Fleet demands
a solution to the problem of sensing and managing
drowsiness and distraction. This latter “human”
aspect is often overlooked by other companies.
Strategically, Seeing Machines Fleet puts cameras in
front of drivers before they appear in cars. This fact
allows Seeing Machines to refine advanced sensing
and alerting techniques and examine their real-world
performance on many thousands of drivers, which
is a unique opportunity that no other automotive
company has today.
Consequently in the next twelve months Seeing
Machines aims to refresh Seeing Machines Fleet
and DMS core technologies to bring them into lockstep, not just for engineering efficiency, but so they
can cross-validate each other through analysis of
performance and safety outcomes.
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Mike Lenné, PhD.
GM Human Factors

Mike joined Seeing Machines in
November 2014 as General Manager
Human Factors. Mike is a world
renowned expert in human factors
and road safety. His academic
standing continues to be recognised
by Monash University through his
continuing appointment as an Adjunct
Professor.
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and in-depth analysis of driver behaviour when
fatigued. A dedicated vehicle has been instrumented
with sensors that monitor the driver, the vehicle and
the external environment and will be driven by nurses
as they drive to and from work, both before and
during consecutive night shifts. A new understanding
of performance when fatigued will support our
broader efforts to enhance its measurement in the
field, while also forming an important pillar in our
technology validation strategy.

Our core technologies are critical here. While
improving safety in customer settings they are also
fundamentally transforming the research landscape
by allowing scientists to understand operator
behaviour in ways not previously possible. Alongside
the company’s strong commitment to human factors
this makes Seeing Machines an incredibly exciting
place for a leading scientist to land. These new and
unique insights into driver behaviour are exemplified
in two of our upcoming world-leading research
programs.

The second program demonstrates the role that
driver monitoring has to play in everyday driving
scenarios where distraction and inattention are
present. Funded through the Australian Research
Council, Seeing Machines is joining the Australian
Naturalistic Driving Study led by the University
of New South Wales and involving several other
Universities and partner organisations. A subset of
the participants recruited into the study will have
the Seeing Machines driver monitoring system
in their cars, along with other sensors which will
record their driving behaviour for four months. These
data will help us to develop and refine new ways of
measuring distraction and inattention, while also
providing thousands of hours of data that can be
used to validate our solutions and support OEM
engagements.

The first program, known as ‘the nurse study’,
examines driver fatigue – an issue that remains
a primary safety concern across many industries.
Seeing Machines is looking at new ways of
understanding how fatigue impacts driver’s eye,
head and facial characteristics and their driving
performance. Through the Cooperative Research
Centre for Alertness, Safety and Productivity, Seeing
Machines is initiating a study with leading sleep
researchers at Monash University and the Austin
Hospital in Melbourne, Australia, to conduct a novel

safety in motion

Human factors considers how human operators
perform in the environments in which they work.
By definition, therefore, human factors methods
and analytical approaches will play a huge role in
both product design and development at Seeing
Machines, and in demonstrating to customers
and the scientific community how our technology
performs in the real-world using the best scientific
methods. It is a platform for scientific thought
leadership that will drive future commercial gains.

These two landmark programs are a terrific launch
pad for our human factors research strategy – a
strategy that will provide great insights into how
our technology should detect and predict impaired
operator state into the future.
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SVP Legal & Commercial
As a technology company, intellectual
property (IP) is critical to Seeing Machines.
One of the key factors in Seeing Machines
executing our business strategy is our ability
to develop, protect and commercialise IP.

seeing machines
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Seeing Machines creates a range of IP, from
core software algorithms, to hardware
designs, product ideas, insights gained from
involvement in government road safety
studies and based on research and analysis
of our operator monitoring data. We protect
this IP using a combination of legal tools,
including patents, copyright, trademarks,
confidential information and trade secrets.
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A summary of our main IP activities is set out below:

•

This work resulted in a number of patent
applications being prepared and filed.

Understanding the external IP landscape

•

As at 30 June 2015, the Company has 13 patent
families at various stages of prosecution, with
patents granted in key markets for six patent
families. (A patent family refers to patents
granted in multiple markets for the same
innovation.)

•

This work is also an ongoing process and will
continue in coming years.

•

Apart from patents, the Company also protects
our brand through trademarks. During the year
we filed applications for corporate and product
trademarks in our key markets.

•

During the 2015 financial year we engaged
external specialists to analyse patents held
by our competitors, and to track which other
companies are citing our own patents.

•

We also conducted a broader analysis of existing
patents relating to similar technologies in our
key target markets.

•

Reviewing the external IP landscape is an
ongoing process and work will continue in this
area in the coming year.

Building internal capability & processes
During the year we made good progress in
building and formalizing our internal capability
to capture and manage IP. We introduced a
formal IP Policy and a procedure for capturing
and assessing new IP, a separate process for
managing IP transactions, plus a Patent Reward
Program for staff.

•

Responsibility for managing our IP sits with an IP
Committee, with leadership on IP strategy from
the Company’s Chief Technology Officer, and
on IP commercialization from the SVP Legal &
Commercial.

Capturing and protecting our own IP
•

A strong focus for the IP Committee during the
year was to work through a large number of
innovations, from basic ideas to more advanced
product features, and decide how to most
appropriately treat the IP (such as patenting or
protecting as a trade secret).

Generating value through IP transactions
•

In addition to developing and protecting IP as
part of our products and services, we will also
generate value from IP through transactions,
such as licensing-out IP to third parties, or
licensing-in IP ourselves, or developing IP with
partners.

•

During the year we licensed IP relating to our
Truefield medical research product to NuCoria
Pty Ltd, a new joint venture entity formed with
the Australian National University. NuCoria is
commercializing this IP for medical markets.

•

We also secured an exclusive licence to high
performance face tracking software and
source data from a research organization.
We have embedded this software into our
products, delivering significant performance
improvements.

•

Finally, during the year we also conducted due
diligence on several potential IP transactions.

safety in motion

•
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letter from
remuneration
committee chairman
Jim Walker
Chairman of the People, Culture
and Remuneration Committee

seeing machines

Dear Shareholder,
As Chairman of Seeing Machines’ People, Culture &
Remuneration Committee I am pleased to provide
an update on the Committee’s activities and the
Company’s remuneration practices.
During the 2015 financial year the Committee met
on six occasions. We refreshed the charter of the
Committee, to clearly set out the Committee’s
objectives, authorities and responsibilities,
membership and meeting processes.

Key Activities During 2015
During the 2015 financial year the Committee worked
with the Company’s management on a range of key
remuneration and staff development activities:
New Remuneration Framework
We worked with Aon Hewitt to design a remuneration
framework that was fair to our shareholders and our
employees, which was simple and transparent, and
able to attract and retain outstanding employees.
We implemented a seven level job band structure
which allowed us to compare all existing roles, and
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any new roles, that can then be benchmarked against
similar level roles in our chosen remuneration
markets. Our remuneration markets are based
on location and are further refined into Sales,
Engineering and General Industry roles. Each of the
seven job levels has a salary range associated with
the correct remuneration market. We elected to pay
our employees at the median, which means that we
pay better than 50% of employers, and less well than
50% of employers.
We also introduced a short-term incentive plan for
those employees or positions that are key to Seeing
Machines. This incentive is equal to 10% of the
employee’s Total Fixed Remuneration.
At the end of our first year of our implemented
remuneration framework I am pleased to report that
all employees transitioned successfully to the new
framework. Management has applied remuneration
reviews for the 2015 financial year in accordance
with the updated remuneration framework.
Each of the Executive’s roles has been individually
benchmarked to similar roles. We would anticipate
seeking updated remuneration benchmarking every
two years.

For those employees who are not part of any other
short-term incentive, the Board intends to make a
one-off general offer of shares, similar to the offer
made in September 2014. The details of any share
offers to staff will be communicated to the market as
soon as the offers are made.
ePerformance Management system

For the first time this year, the Executive held a
consistency meeting where they discussed every
employee and determined overall performance
ratings and increases. This also gave the Executive
the opportunity to discuss development and future
opportunities for all employees.
This year has been one of embedding and refining
practices to ensure that all employees are treated
equitably, and that mechanisms are simple and
transparent.

The annual fees for non-executive directors for the
year to 30 June 2015 are set out in Note 30 to the
Accounts of this Annual Report. The total of all
remuneration paid to all non-executive directors
for the year to 30 June 2015 was $315,124. This
is well below the cap on non-executive director
remuneration calculated according to the current
Constitution, which for the 2015 financial year was
$456,259.

Principles used for Remuneration

Executives and Employees

Non-Executive Directors
The fees paid to non-executive directors, including
the Chairman, reflect the demands which are made
on them, and the responsibilities they carry as
directors.

safety in motion

To complement our remuneration framework the
Company has also implemented an ePerformance
Management system which ensures that all
employees have goals aligned to Company and/or
team key performance indicators (KPIs). As part of
our annual review, each employee’s performance
is measured against their KPIs and the Company’s
Values and Competencies, and this performance is
an input into the employee’s remuneration review.

In last year’s Annual Report we foreshadowed
that the Board intended to re-structure nonexecutive directors’ remuneration to include an
equity component. As part of reviewing directors’
remuneration, the Board obtained advice from an
independent remuneration consultant on benchmark
directors’ remuneration in similar companies.
Using that advice as guidance, during the financial
year the Board increased non-executive directors’
cash remuneration, and added a share component
(comprising 25% of total remuneration, in ordinary
shares to be issued annually after the release of
the annual accounts). The Board will promptly
release details of any equity issued to directors.
The increase in remuneration was less than the
recommendation from the remuneration consultant.
Directors are also entitled to be reimbursed for
expenses incurred on Company business, but do not
receive additional ‘per meeting’ fees.

In general terms, remuneration of our staff
comprises three elements:
a fixed amount of salary plus superannuation
•
(where applicable);
•
a short term incentive, comprising cash or
shares, and based on individual and Company
performance against KPIs each year;
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“We intend to create and
maintain a remuneration
framework that is simple,
transparent and fair to
both shareholders and our
employees.”

•

a long term incentive, comprising shares, which
only vest after a waiting period (typically three
years) and only if vesting conditions are met
(typically share price growth).

The structure and details of these remuneration
elements varies between different groups of staff.
For example, long term incentives are typically
offered only to executives or other key employees;
‘at risk’ components are typically a higher proportion
of remuneration for sales staff and executives (with
long term incentives comprising 20% to 50% of
executives’ fixed pay); and incentives for executives
are tied more closely to Company performance, with
incentives for other staff weighted more heavily
towards personal KPIs.

the laws relating to taxation of employee share
schemes. In general terms these changes have
made it more attractive for companies to issue
equity to employees, including via share options
or performance rights. The Committee and
Management have considered these changes,
together with external advice, when designing
long term incentive offers as part of the 2015
remuneration review. These changes will also
give the Board greater flexibility when making
future offers. In order to take advantage of these
benefits, the Board intends to refresh the Company’s
employee share plan (dating from 2010) and seek
shareholder approval for the new plan at the 2015
Annual General Meeting.
We intend to create and maintain a remuneration
framework that is simple, transparent and fair to
both shareholders and our employees. We will
continue to review our remuneration practices to
achieve this goal. We will also continue to ensure
that Seeing Machines meets regulatory and
legislative remuneration requirements.

Over the past few years, for the long term incentive
shares have been issued to a trustee of a loan plan
and held on trust for executives (including Managing
Director Ken Kroeger and Finance Director James
Walker) until certain time and performance hurdles
are achieved.

I would like to thank my fellow Committee members
for their expertise and guidance, as well as all those
who have supported the Board in driving our ongoing
remuneration changes and crafting Seeing Machines’
remuneration framework.

safety in motion

Our incentive plans involve the issue of shares
under the Executive Share Plan first approved by
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in
November 2010 (and most recently in 2014). The
details of any shares issued to staff are announced
to the market as soon as they are issued.

On 1 July 2015 the Australian government changed

Jim Walker
Chairman of the People, Culture and
Remuneration Committee
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Your directors submit their report for the
year ended 30 June 2015.
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Directors
The names of the Company’s directors in office during the year and until
the date of this report are listed below. All directors were in office for this
entire period covered by the report unless otherwise stated.

Ken Kroeger
Managing Director and CEO

David Gaul
Non-Executive Director

Michael Roberts
Non-Executive Director

Rudolph Burger
Non-Executive Director

James Allan Walker
Non-Executive Director

safety in motion

Terry Winters
Non-Executive Chairman

James David Walker
Executive Director
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Review of Operations
Financial results
The Company’s total revenue for the financial year
(excluding foreign exchange gains and finance
income) was A$21.2 million, an increase of A$3.7
million, or 20%, over the 2014 revenue of A$17.6
million. This represents the highest revenue the
Company has generated in any financial year.

seeing machines

This record revenue was based largely on sales of
the Company’s DSSTM products and services to the
mining industry, with early sales of the Company’s
new Fleet product towards the end of the financial
year. In the year to 30 June 2015 the Company
shipped 1,828 units, across the mining and Fleet
products (FY2014: 1,059 units), another record for the
Company.

PRODUCT

DSS™
Seeing Machines Fleet™
Core technology integration services

Revenue for the year for the Company’s product
lines, as well as Other Income compared to the last
financial year, is shown in the following table:

30 JUNE 2014 (A$)

VARIANCE (%)

15,428,872

14,471,178

7%

2,575,226

-

N/A

979,673

2,285,214

-57%

Other income

2,217,806

887,335

150%

Foreign exchange gains

3,071,793

-

N/A

297,727

118,519

151%

24,571,097

17,762,246

38%

Finance income
Total revenue
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30 JUNE 2015 (A$)

The Company achieved sales revenues of A$18.9
million, of which A$13.0 million was from the sale
of goods and A$6.0M from providing services. This
represents a 13% increase over 2014. As in previous
years, sales revenue was weighted towards the
second half of the financial year, with revenue
of A$13.1 million (69% of the total) coming in the
second half.

The Company made a net loss of A$10.6 million for the
2015 financial year, compared to a net loss of A$2.7
million for the previous year. Included in this result is
foreign exchange gains of A$3.0 million. The unrealised
foreign exchange gain (A$2.7 million) relates to the
Company holding its cash and a portion of the trade
receivables and payables balances in AUD, USD and GBP.

Other income was primarily due to the recovery of R&D
tax offsets refund from the Australian Government.
Finance income was attributable to the interest earnings
due to increased cash holdings resulting from the capital
raises conducted during the year.
Cost of Goods Sold (COGS) increased A$3.7 million
(55%) to A$10.4 million (2014: A$6.7 million) due mainly
to: upfront tooling, setup and freight costs incurred in
preparation of the commercial fleet product; a change in
the mix of sales to include the Fleet product, with a lower
margin than the DSS product; and the expansion of the
Company’s logistics facilities in Australia and the USA.

This loss was a result of planned investments to
implement the Company’s business strategy outlined
in mid-2014. During this year we invested significantly
in our capability and resources to commercialise our
technology in our global target industries: mining;
commercial fleets; road vehicles; rail; consumer
electronics; and aviation and simulators. This investment
is reflected in increased expenses for R&D, sales and
marketing and corporate activities.

Operational expenses increased by 85% to A$24.3 million
(2014: A$13.2 million). This increase is a result of the
Company executing its plans for entry into an extended
set of industry sectors, and reflects the Company’s
planned investment in research and development as well
as supporting the significant growth in revenue through
additional customer fulfilment and support infrastructure
and personnel.
MINING
BUSINESS (A$)

OTHER
SECTORS (A$)

CORPORATE
RESOURCES (A$)

TOTAL (A$)

Business revenue

15,428,872

3,554,899

-

Revenue

15,428,872

3,554,899

-

18,983,771

Cost of Sales

(7,174,393)

(3,286,065)

-

(10,460,458)

Gross Profit

8,254,479

268,834

-

8,523,313

Other income

1,807,231

410,575

-

2,217,806

267,539

61,643

2,742,611

3,071,793

Net gain/(loss) on foreign exchange

18,983,771

-

-

297,727

297,727

(396,015)

(6,175,077)

-

(6,571,092)

(6,673,381)

(2,377,090)

(445,863)

(9,496,334)

-

-

(2,198,912)

(2,198,912)

Corporate services

(254,313)

(36,000)

(5,720,224)

(6,010,537)

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations

3,005,540

(7,847,115)

(5,324,611)

(10,166,236)

Finance income
Research and development
Customer support and marketing
Occupancy and facilities

Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations after tax

safety in motion

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

In addition to the segment information in Note 7 to the
Accounts of this annual report, the table below shows the
key financial results of the business.

-

-

(468,925)

(468,925)

3,005,540

(7,847,115)

(5,793,586)

(10,635,161)

The other sectors in the table above represents the Seeing Machines FleetTM and Core technology integration
services business.
During the year the Company completed a capital raising realising A$11.4 million less transaction costs of A$0.6
million. Cash reserves at 30 June 2015 were A$14.2 million compared to A$22.8 million at 30 June 2014. The lower
cash balance was due to a significant payment for the initial order placed for the commercial fleet product as well as
the overall loss incurred. At 30 June 2015 the Company had trade debtors of A$7.4 million compared to A$5.5 million
in the previous year.
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During the previous financial year the Company released its six-sector,
transport focused, operator monitoring and safety intervention strategy. The
strategy targets the global sectors of mining, commercial road transport,
rail, automotive, aviation and consumer electronics. During this financial
year the Company began executing this strategy, including the following
operational highlights.
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Mining & Caterpillar Industries
The Company continued to increase sales from its
DSS driver monitoring products and services, with
full year revenues from DSS of A$15.4 million, 7%
higher than last year, despite challenging conditions
in the global mining industry. This revenue comprises
a mix of product and services fees, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

sales of DSS units;
software licensing;
installation services;
maintenance and support fees;
field support services; and
DSSiTM information reporting services including
event classification.

DSS products are now installed across the world – in
North and South America, Europe, Middle-East and
Africa, Australia and Asia-Pacific – with some of the
world’s leading resource companies, including BHP
Billiton, Freeport, Teck Coal, Peabody, Newmont and
Vale.
Sales into the mining sector were driven by the
Company’s exclusive global alliance with Caterpillar,
first announced in May 2013. During the year the
Company and Caterpillar continued to strengthen
this alliance. The Company signed DSS distribution
agreements with a number of additional Caterpillar
dealers, including the world’s largest (Finning

As one of the agreed phases of the Caterpillar
alliance, in March 2015 the Company signed a
marketing and licence agreement for Caterpillar
Safety Solutions to provide 24/7 monitoring and
analytical services to their global customers using
Seeing Machines’ DSS products. Caterpillar Safety
Solutions (CSS), in tandem with global Cat dealers
and Seeing Machines, will offer customers an
end-to-end fatigue risk management solution. The
integrated solution combines technical consulting
and change management services with a technology
suite that incorporates Seeing Machines’ DSS
in-vehicle protection and 24-hour DSSi operator
monitoring service provided through Caterpillar’s
Condition Monitoring Centres.

safety in motion

This revenue figure includes A$6.6 million of revenue
from Seeing Machines Latin America, the Company’s
joint venture in Chile established during this
financial year. The joint venture generates revenue
by providing DSS products and services to customers
in Latin America.

International). As at 30 June 2015 the Company had
signed agreements with 18 Caterpillar dealers to sell
and service the DSS product.

Where the first phase of the Caterpillar alliance
focused on the mining sector, this new offering is
available across Caterpillar’s broader industries,
including construction, aggregate and quarry and
forestry, and is accessible through Caterpillar’s
global network of approximately 185 dealers.
After the end of the financial year, the Company has
further strengthened its alliance with Caterpillar,
by signing agreements under which Caterpillar will
take over responsibility for manufacturing, marketing
and sales of Seeing Machines’ existing DSS rugged
off-road product. This agreement is discussed in
the section on Subsequent Events after the Balance
Date, on page 144.
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‘ADAS’ for Road Vehicles
One of the Company’s six target markets is
the automotive sector. The opportunity in this
market is to integrate the Company’s technology
into passenger cars as part of Advanced Driver
Assistance Systems, or “ADAS”. ADAS is an industry
term for systems developed to automate, adapt
and enhance vehicle systems for safety and better
driving. ADAS systems include safety features
designed to avoid collisions and accidents by
offering technologies that alert the driver to potential
problems, or to avoid collisions by implementing
safeguards and taking over control of the vehicle.
ADAS technology can be based upon vision/camera
systems and sensor technologies that monitor the
driver and the external environment.
In August 2014 the Company signed a strategic
alliance with TK Holdings Inc., the Americas
subsidiary of Takata Corporation, a Tier 1 supplier
of automotive safety systems to major global
automotive manufacturers. The alliance is mutually
exclusive in passenger and commercial vehicle OEM
applications including cars, trucks and buses but
excludes aftermarket solutions. Revenues to Seeing
Machines will be a combination of minimum licence
fees and royalties.
Through Takata, the Company secured a contract
to develop driver monitoring systems for a global
car maker. During the 2015 financial year the
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Company generated revenue of A$0.55 million from
the core technology services provided to Takata
in the development of this product for this first
automotive customer. This work was a major focus
of the Company during the 2015 financial year, and
successfully delivering this project will be a high
priority for the Company during the 2016 financial
year.
While the Takata airbag recall is restricting shortterm opportunities with some automotive OEMs, in
parallel with our continuing work with Takata, the
Company is progressing relationships with a number
of global automotive OEMs, including the supply of
a PC-based variant of our automotive technology
that allows the automotive manufacturer to easily
map Driver Monitoring capability to their ADAS and
autonomous vehicle technology road maps and to
input into their technology packaging strategy for
new vehicles, model range interiors and dashboards.
The Company believes the automotive sector
presents many opportunities to successfully
commercialise the Company’s technology. During
the 2016 financial year the Board and Management
will continue to develop and pursue strategic
alternatives and commercial models to maximise
these opportunities.

Commercial Fleets
During the 2015 financial year the Company
leveraged its existing rugged off-road DSS product,
to develop and build a new lower cost on-road
product for commercial fleets. This new product,
Seeing Machines’ FleetTM, was launched in late April
2015 at the annual conference of the U.S. National
Private Truck Council.

In June 2015 the Company received its first order for
750 units of the Fleet product, from its distributor
Insurance Underwriting Managers (IUM) in South
Africa. IUM is a leading South African insurance
underwriter that focuses on the commercial fleet
market. IUM is offering the Fleet product to its
customers with an expectation that driver behaviour
will improve, reducing accidents and associated
insurance costs.

safety in motion

Seeing Machines’ Fleet is a driver monitoring system
designed specifically for trucks, buses and other
commercial fleet vehicles. It provides drivers and
supervisors with real-time notification when drivers
are fatigued or distracted. Other similar products in
this market only allow for fatigue risk mitigation as a
post event intervention.

The Fleet product is being manufactured by Seeing
Machines’ outsourced manufacturing partner in
China. While the Company is selling the Fleet
product directly to end user companies through
our international sales team, the Company has
also appointed a number of distributors in various
regions, including IUM in Africa, FleetSafe in New
Zealand, Convoy Technologies in the USA, and
Caterpillar at a global level for their key fields of
operation. The Seeing Machines Fleet product will
also be distributed in Chile by Seeing Machines’ Latin
American joint venture. We are also in the process of
establishing Fleet sales partnerships in other large
markets. This activity will continue during the 2016
financial year.
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Aviation, Simulators & Consoles
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The Company believes there are significant
opportunities for its technology to be deployed in
the aviation sector. During the year we evaluated the
industry and discussed these opportunities with a
range of leading aviation companies, regulators and
other stakeholders.
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During the year the Company engaged in a successful
research collaboration with Boeing Research &
Technology – Australia, providing the eye tracking
technology that monitors and measures a pilot’s
situational awareness. The jointly developed
solution was installed in a Boeing Flight Services
737 Flight Simulator at the Brisbane International
Airport. Using Seeing Machines’ commercial gazetracking technology, combined with Boeing’s data
handling and analytics software, the system provides
real-time evaluation of a pilot’s instrument scan and
flight deck interaction. This analysis enables the
automatic detection of performance breakdowns
regarding the pilot’s interaction with the flight deck,
which can be relayed to the instructor in real time
using a wireless tablet PC. Preliminary results

obtained from a study conducted with operational
pilots and check captains from an Australian national
airline has proven to be very successful.
After the end of the financial year the Company
signed agreements with Boeing to deliver three
more gaze tracking units for use at various Boeing
facilities in Australia and overseas.

Other Markets – Rail and Consumer
Electronics
In September 2014 the Company signed a strategic
agreement with Electro-Motive Diesel, Inc. (EMD),
a Caterpillar Company, related to in-cab operator
fatigue and distraction monitoring systems for use
in locomotives and other railway vehicles. This
exclusive agreement, with an initial term of three
years, allows Seeing Machines and EMD to develop
and adapt Seeing Machines’ technology for the rail
industry. The Company has been working with EMD
to agree the specific product development and
marketing program for the rail sector, and to conduct
trials with early customers.

•

In August 2014 the Company entered into a
collaboration with a long time distributor,
Chilean company GTD Ingenieria de Sistemas, to
form Seeing Machines Latin America. This will
enable the highest levels of service to mining
customers and local Caterpillar dealers. Seeing
Machines owns a majority 55% of the new
company, which is based in Chile and employs
25 staff.

•

In October 2014 the Company also formed
another new company, NuCoria Pty Ltd,
with The Australian National University to
commercialise TrueField Analyzer (TFA)
Intellectual Property. Leveraging Seeing
Machines’ patented IP, technical expertise, and
ANU’s technology transfer & commercialisation
successes, NuCoria will be dedicated to bringing
revolutionary medical devices to market. Seeing
Machines owns 18% of the equity in NuCoria and
has the right to receive future royalties.

•

During the financial year the Company
established FOVIOTM as its technology platform
for research based interest and opportunities
(replacing the FaceLAB & FaceAPI product lines)
and in August 2014, appointed Eye Tracking, Inc,
as the Company’s distributor for the eye-tracking
research market.

safety in motion

Also in September 2014, the Company signed
a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with
Samsung Electro-Mechanics Corporation (SEMCo) to
facilitate joint development of face and eye tracking
technology for the consumer electronics industry.
Under this program, SEMCo and Seeing Machines
will each appoint dedicated engineering teams to
a collaborative R&D program, and assign business
development resources tasked with supporting key
markets. At this stage the Company’s investment of
resources in this market is modest, but it remains an
attractive target market given the large size of the
consumer electronics market and the potential for
consumer devices to reach into other markets over
time.

Other Highlights
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Outlook for Financial
Year 2015-2016
2015 has been another significant year in the
Company’s history with another record revenue
result. This healthy revenue growth, in challenging
market conditions, is driven by our leadership in
the mining industry though our own efforts and in
partnership with Caterpillar Global Mining.
During the year we broadened our business base by
transitioning from a mining focus to other transport
specific industries. The launch of our commercial
fleet product allows the Company to enter a very
large market (much larger than the mining market)
with a solution to address a significant problem
within that sector.

provides the Board with confidence of continued
strong revenue growth in 2016.
The Company’s key activities during the 2016
financial year will include:
•

•

•

We continue to accelerate the commercialization
of our technology across a focused range of
industry sectors. A foundation has been set with
the expansion of our business development teams,
customer support services and infrastructure
required to scale quickly.

•

This focus and approach has seen Seeing Machines
execute on its strategic alliance with the world’s
leading manufacturer of mining equipment,
Caterpillar, and gives the Board confidence in
another year of revenue growth from the mining
sector.
We continue to work with our automotive partner, TK
Holdings to deploy driver monitoring technology for
a major global automotive manufacturer. Our first
product in this market will be delivered during the
2016 financial year, and with ongoing discussions
with major automotive customers we are confident
that this sector will become a significant contributor
to our business.
The successful execution of these two major
alliances, combined with our existing sales pipeline,

•

•

•

safety in motion

We have started the process of moving to a broader
range of revenue streams from both direct and
indirect sales, from hardware sales to a wider range
of products and services, including recurring license
and service fees.

Revenue: continuing to drive strong revenue
growth, from a broader range of markets,
particularly the commercial fleet market;
DSS: complete the transition to Caterpillar
of existing DSS mining customers and future
sales and services; support Caterpillar to
drive increased sales through its global dealer
network, into the broader Caterpillar industries
(not just mining);
Automotive: work with Takata to deliver our
driver monitoring product to our first automotive
customer; engage with other automotive OEMs;
develop and pursue strategic alternatives and
commercial models to maximise automotive
opportunities;
Commercial Fleets: drive sales of the Seeing
Machines Fleet product, through direct and
indirect sales channels; continue to reduce
product cost and enhance features and
performance;
Aviation: further collaborations with Boeing
stakeholders, international airlines and flight
training schools; implement several operational
solutions and prototypes;
Rail: work with Progress Rail and EMD to trial
our technology with rail customers and begin
to develop a rail specific operator monitoring
solution;
Operations: extract cost while improve the
customer experience with our supply chain;
leverage the capabilities of our business
information systems to support commercial
decisions; complete accreditation of our Quality
Management System.

The Board and Management look forward to
reporting to shareholders on these activities during
the coming year.
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Position holders during the period
Chief Executive Officer

Employee Numbers

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer for the full
financial year to 30 June 2015 and at the date of this
report is Ken Kroeger.

At 30 June 2015 the Group had 159 full-time
employees (90 employees at 30 June 2014).

Company Secretary

seeing machines

The Company Secretary for the full financial year
from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 was Andrew
Neilson. From 1 July to 12 August 2014, Allistar Twigg
also served as Company Secretary.

Directors
The names and particulars of the directors of the
Company are set out in the following pages. The
directors were in office for the entire period unless
otherwise stated.

Terry Winters
FAICD
Non-Executive Chairman, member of the Risk, Audit & Finance
Committee and member of the People, Culture & Remuneration
Committee
Terry is widely known as a strategic leader having served as
chairman and director of several Australian and international listed
and private companies and charities. He has led companies from
start-up to successful realisation events and is currently chairman
of Converge International Pty Ltd and Intelledox Pty Ltd and is
a director of Redflex Holdings Limited (ASX:RDF), Future Fibre
Technologies Limited (ASX:FFT), Australian Home Care Services
and Many Rivers Microfinance. Terry led the team that created
Optus Communications, Australia’s second telecommunications
carrier. Prior to this he was a senior executive at Motorola for 11
years following which he founded Link Telecommunications, a
business that grew to over $200 million in revenues with over 1,000
employees.
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David Gaul
FAICD
Non-Executive director and member of the People, Culture &
Remuneration Committee
Mr Gaul is co-founder, non-executive director and past President
of CEA Technologies, a highly successful technology company that
designs and develops radar and communications technology. David
was the Australian Technology Entrepreneur of the Year in 2003
and Australian Export Hero 2009/2010. David has over 20 years’
experience in high-tech commercialism. David is a founding fellow
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Ken Kroeger
Managing Director and CEO
safety in motion

Ken comes from a long technology and commercialisation
background with exposure to a wide variety of industry sectors. He
was the founder of international simulation & training business
Catalyst Interactive; with offices in three countries and over 100
employees. The organisation was highly recognised for innovation
& high customer service levels and was sold to Halliburton
subsidiary, Kellogg, Brown and Root in 2008. Ken has held multiple
board directorships, and enjoys mentoring a number of start-up
entrepreneurs.

Michael Roberts
Non-Executive director and Chair of the Risk, Audit & Finance
Committee
Michael is a London-based private investor who has been an active
shareholder in the Company since the 2005 IPO. Prior to joining
the Board, Michael spent 15 years at JPMorgan in the Emerging
Markets Group. At JPMorgan, Michael’s responsibilities were
primarily in the trading, sales and placement of corporate debt in
the Eastern Europe, Africa and Middle East regions. Michael holds
a BA in Economics and MSc in Investment Management.
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Dr. Rudolph Burger
Non-Executive director and member of the Risk, Audit & Finance
Committee
Over the past twenty-five years, Rudy has founded five digital
media technology companies in the US, run a European public
company, and served as a senior executive for two global 500
companies. He is widely recognised as an effective, dynamic leader
with a proven track record in management, strategic planning,
business development, and M&A. Dr Burger is currently Founder
and Managing Partner of an investment bank headquartered
in California. He also serves as a Board Member of another
technology company based in Cambridge, UK. Rudy has a BSc and
MSc from Yale University and a PhD from Cambridge University.

seeing machines

James (Jim) Allan Walker
FAICD
Non-Executive director and Chair of the People, Culture &
Remuneration Committee
Over the past 45 years, Jim has been involved with heavy
equipment dealerships, having recently retired from WesTrac
(Caterpillar dealer for Western Australia, New South Wales/
Australian Capital Territory and North East China) after 13 years
as CEO.
Jim is also Chairman of Macmahon Holdings and State Training
Board (WA) and Non-Executive Director of Skilled Group and RAC
Holdings (WA).

James David Walker
Executive Finance Director and CFO
James has extensive experience in building businesses and
commercialising technology. He has led and managed global
companies across a wide range of industries, including hotel
marketing, biotechnology and mining and safety services. Over the
past fifteen years James has completed multiple capital raisings
on both the Australian and London Stock Exchanges as well as
through private equity and other sources. James is a fellow of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and holds a
Bachelor of Commerce form the University of New South Wales.
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Andrew Neilson
GAICD
Company Secretary
Andrew is an experienced legal and commercial executive. He
has eight years’ experience as a commercial lawyer, with one
of Australia’s largest law firms as well as two NYSE-listed
global information technology firms. He also has eight years’
management experience as Group General Manager Commercial
(and Company Secretary) for an Australian clean energy
company listed on the AIM market. Andrew has experience in
commercialising technology, managing intellectual property and
structuring and negotiating deals with global partners, as well as
capital raising, investor & public relations, corporate governance
and ASX & AIM market practice. He has a Bachelor of Laws
(Honours) and a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of
Melbourne.

Resigned - 12 August 2014
Company Secretary

safety in motion

Allister Twigg

Allistar has an extensive and varied background spanning
careers in the Air Force, merchant banking, as a barrister in
private practice, as a company secretary and corporate counsel.
His experience includes founder of and senior positions in IT
companies and the Air Force legal reserve, advising across a
broad range of high-level strategic and management issues, and
specialisations in corporations law, commercial law and aviation
law.
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Principal Activities
The Company’s principal activities during the year
were:
•

•

•
•

seeing machines

•

Developing and selling DSSTM products and
services to detect and manage driver fatigue
and distraction, including continued market
development to secure sustainable channels to
market for the product;
Developing and launching a new product, Seeing
Machines FleetTM, to detect and manage driver
fatigue and distraction in the commercial road
transport market;
Developing driver-monitoring technology to be
incorporated into passenger cars;
Entering commercial agreements with partners
for the development, manufacturing and sale of
products into key target markets;
Research and development of the Company’s
core vision processing technologies to support
the development and refinement of the
Company’s products.

Changes in State of
Affairs
During the financial year there was no significant
change in the state of affairs of the Company other
than those referred to below and in the financial
statements or notes thereto.

Environmental
Regulations
The Company holds no licenses issued by relevant
Environmental Protection Authorities and there
have been no known breaches of any environmental
regulations.

Dividends
No dividends or distributions have been made to
members during the year ended 30 June 2015 and no
dividends or distributions have been recommended
or declared by the Directors in respect of the year
ended 30 June 2015.

Subsequent Events after the Balance Date
Following the year end, Research and Development expenditure claims have been finalised and lodged
with AusIndustry. As a result, and subject to assessment by AusIndustry and the Australian Taxation Office,
refundable tax offsets totaling A$2.5 million is expected to be received in October 2015.
In September 2015 the Company signed a global product development, licensing and distribution agreement
with Caterpillar Inc., as the final phase of the original alliance between the two companies announced in
May 2013. Under this new agreement, Caterpillar will take over responsibility for manufacturing, marketing
and sales of Seeing Machines’ existing DSS rugged off-road product. Caterpillar will also have distribution
rights for Seeing Machines Fleet product, exclusive within the agreed Caterpillar industries and nonexclusive
outside these industries. Caterpillar will exclusively market DSS and Seeing Machines Fleet products as their
only in-cab operator fatigue and distraction monitoring solutions in the agreed Caterpillar industries (mining,
construction, cement and quarry, paving, forestry, marine and industrial operations).
Caterpillar will pay the Company a fee of US$17.5 million over four years, plus an ongoing royalty on the sale of
DSS hardware to Cat® Dealers and on all DSS and Fleet related software licensing, monitoring and analytics
services. Caterpillar will also purchase Seeing Machines’ inventory of existing DSS units. In addition to these
revenues, Seeing Machines will provide engineering services to extend product functionality as well as develop
new computer vision related technologies for Caterpillar. Current DSS customer service contracts will be
transitioned to Caterpillar.
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Share Options

Unissued Shares

(i) Share options granted during or since
the end of the year

As at the date of this report there were no unissued
ordinary shares under options

During the year 4,684,232 (2014: 18,920,020) options
were granted. The terms and conditions of these
options are disclosed in note 31 to the Accounts of
this Annual Report.

Indemnification of
Directors and Officers

(ii) Shares Issued as a Result of the
Exercise of Options
During the year no ordinary shares have been issued
as a result of the exercise of options under the
Employee Share Plan.
Since the end of the financial year there have been
no shares issued by the Board as a result of the
exercise of options under the Employee Share Plan.

During the financial year, the Company paid a
premium in respect of a contract insuring the
Directors of Seeing Machines Limited (and its US
subsidiary Seeing Machines Inc), the Company
Secretary, and all executive officers of those
companies against a liability incurred as such a
Director, secretary, or executive officer to the extent
permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract
of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the
liability and the amount of the premium.
safety in motion

Directors’ Meetings
During the 2015 financial year, 12 Board meetings were held. The following table sets out the number of
Board and Committee meetings each Director was eligible to attend and the number of meetings they
actually attended.

DIRECTOR

BOARD

RISK, AUDIT &

PEOPLE, CULTURE &

Meetings Attended / Meetings Eligible to Attend

FINANCE COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Terry Winters

12/12

4/4

6/6

Ken Kroeger

12/12

*

*

David Gaul

12/12

*

6/6

Michael Roberts

12/12

4/4

*

Rudolph Burger

10/12

4/4

*

James A Walker

12/12

*

6/6

James D Walker

11/12

*

*

* Not a member of the committee
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Indemnification of
Auditors

seeing machines

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has
agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as
part of the terms of its audit engagement agreement
against claims by third parties arising from the audit
(for an unspecified amount). No payment has been
made to indemnify Ernst & Young during or since the
financial year.

Non-Audit Services
Ernst & Young rendered consulting services in
connection with the taxation affairs of Seeing
Machines Limited as disclosed at note 35.

Auditors’ Independence
Declaration
We have obtained an independence declaration from
our auditors, Ernst & Young. The signed declaration is
included after this report.

Signed at Canberra this 18th day of September 2015 in accordance with a resolution of the Directors
made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

Terry Winters
Chairman
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Ken Kroeger
Managing Director

Ernst & Young
121 Marcus Clarke Street
Canberra ACT 2600 Australia
GPO Box 281 Canberra ACT 2601

Tel: +61 2 6267 3888
Fax: +61 2 6246 1500
ey.com/au

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Seeing Machines
Limited
In relation to our audit of the financial report of Seeing Machines Limited for the financial year ended 30
June 2015, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional
conduct.

Ernst & Young

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

safety in motion

Ben Tansley
Partner
18 September 2015
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statement of financial position
AS AT 30 JUNE 2015

Note

Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

14

14,221,615

22,764,774

Trade and other receivables

15

7,188,835

5,502,755

Inventories

16

10,182,633

2,821,783

Current financial assets

20

238,462

-

Other current assets

17

224,910

132,551

32,056,455

31,221,863

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

18

863,214

456,309

Intangible assets

19

3,011,560

1,288,656

Non-current financial assets

20

140,191

-

Trade and other receivables

15

166,489

-

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

4,181,454

1,744,965

36,237,909

32,966,828

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

22

4,075,472

1,982,819

Provisions

23

1,409,955

919,469

231,187

601,847

Deferred revenue
Income tax payable
Interest bearing loans and borrowings

366,620
21

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

-

7,430

6,083,234

3,511,565

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions

24

20,389

5,178

Interest bearing loans and borrowings

21

-

43,421

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

20,389

48,599

6,103,623

3,560,164

30,134,286

29,406,664

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Treasury shares
Accumulated losses

26

57,490,870

45,776,174

(1,301,823)

(707,110)

(27,997,987)

(16,716,289)

767,710

1,053,889

28,958,770

29,406,664

1,175,516

-

30,134,286

29,406,664

Other reserves
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest
TOTAL EQUITY

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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statement of comprehensive income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Note

Consolidated

2015

2014

A$

A$

Continuing operations
Sale of goods and licence fees
Rendering of services
Revenue
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit
Other income

8

Net gain/(loss) on foreign exchange
Finance income

13,016,726

13,638,322

5,967,045

3,118,070

18,983,771

16,756,392

(10,460,458)

(6,743,498)

8,523,313

10,012,894

2,217,806

887,335

3,071,793

(558,559)

297,727

118,519

Research and development expenses

(6,571,092)

(2,552,542)

Customer support and marketing expenses

(9,496,334)

(4,382,036)

Occupancy and facilities expenses

(2,198,912)

(867,163)

Corporate services expenses

(6,010,537)

(5,361,620)

(10,166,236)

(2,703,172)

(468,925)

-

(10,635,161)

(2,703,172)

(11,281,698)

(2,703,172)

646,537

-

(10,635,161)

(2,703,172)

Loss from continuing operations before income tax
Income tax expense

10

Loss from continuing operations after income tax
Loss for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of parent
Non-controlling interests
Loss attributable to equity holders of parent
Other comprehensive income – to be reclassified to profit and loss in
subsequent periods
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

(613,466)

(3,208)

Other comprehensive income net of tax

(613,466)

(3,208)

(11,248,627)

(2,706,380)

(11,872,774)

(2,706,380)

624,147

-

(11,248,627)

(2,706,380)

Total comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of parent
Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income for the year
Earnings per share for profit attributable to the ordinary
equity holders of the parent:

12

•

Basic earnings per share

(0.0130)

(0.0041)

•

Diluted earnings per share

(0.0130)

(0.0041)

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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statement of changes in equity

FOR THE YEAR ENDED

Contributed
Equity

Treasury
Shares

Accumulated
Losses

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Reserve

A$

A$

A$

A$

Employee
Equity
Benefits
& Other
Reserve

A$

Total

NonControlling
Interest

Total Equity

A$

A$

A$

30 JUNE 2015
At 1 July 2013

17,049,175

-

(14,013,117)

49,846

648,259

3,734,163

-

3,734,163

Loss for the year

-

-

(2,703,172)

-

-

(2,703,172)

-

(2,703,172)

Other comprehensive

-

-

-

(3,208)

-

(3,208)

-

(3,208)

-

-

(2,703,172)

(3,208)

-

(2,706,380)

-

(2,706,380)

Shares Issued

30,310,556

(707,110)

-

-

-

29,603,446

-

29,603,446

Capital Raising Costs

income
Total comprehensive income
Transaction with owner in
their capacity as owner
(1,583,557)

-

-

-

-

(1,583,557)

-

(1,583,557)

Employee Share Loan Plan

-

-

-

-

233,387

233,387

-

233,387

Share Options Issued

-

-

-

-

125,605

125,605

-

125,605

45,776,174

(707,110)

(16,716,289)

46,638

1,007,251

29,406,664

-

29,406,664

At 30 June 2014

At 1 July 2014

45,776,174

(707,110)

(16,716,289)

46,638

1,007,251

29,406,664

-

29,406,664

Profit/(Loss) for the year

-

-

(11,281,698)

-

-

(11,281,698)

646,537

(10,635,161)

Other comprehensive

-

-

-

(591,076)

-

(591,076)

(22,390)

(613,466)

-

-

(11,281,698)

(591,076)

-

(11,872,774)

624,147

(11,248,627)

12,301,678

(594,713)

-

-

-

11,706,965

-

11,706,965

(586,982)

-

-

-

-

(586,982)

-

(586,982)

-

-

304,897

304,897

-

304,897

-

-

-

-

-

-

551,369

551,369

57,490,870

(1,301,823)

(27,997,987)

(544,438)

1,312,148

28,958,770

1,175,516

30,134,286

income
Total comprehensive income
Transaction with owner in
their capacity as owner
Shares issued
Capital raising costs
Employee Share Loan Plan
Acquisition of Noncontrolling interest
At 30 June 2015

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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statement of cash flows
Consolidated
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015

2014

A$

A$

Note

Operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payment to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Interest paid
Income tax paid
Payments received for research and development Costs
Net cash flows used in operating activities

28

16,691,721

14,640,070

(37,722,796)

(21,019,143)

297,727

118,519

(1,659)

(8,435)

(87,135)

-

2,202,534

1,045,089

(18,619,608)

(5,223,900)

Investing activities
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment

-

9,082

Purchase of plant and equipment

(748,905)

(172,435)

Purchase of held-to-maturity financial assets

(238,462)

-

Payments for intangible assets

(1,934,686)

(447,556)

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(2,922,053)

(610,909)

11,433,559

29,435,527

(586,982)

(1,457,952)

-

57,563

Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Costs of capital raising
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Net cash flows from financing activities
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents
Net foreign exchange differences
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

14

(50,851)

(6,712)

10,795,726

28,028,426

(10,745,935)

22,193,617

2,202,776

(263,844)

22,764,774

835,001

14,221,615

22,764,774

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. Corporate Information
The consolidated financial report of Seeing Machines Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Group) for the year
ended 30 June 2015 was authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of the Directors on 18 September 2015.
Seeing Machines Limited (the parent) is a for-profit company
limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are
publicly traded on the AIM of the London Stock Exchange.
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the

seeing machines

Group are described in the Directors’ Report.

2. Going Concern Basis of Accounting

3. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies
a) Basis of preparation
The financial report is a general-purpose financial
report, which has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian
Accounting Standards as issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board and other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards
Board. The financial report has also been prepared on a
historical cost basis.
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest dollar.

The financial report has been prepared on the going

b) Compliance with IFRS

concern basis. The Group has made a loss for the year of

The financial report complies with International Financial

A$10,635,161 (2014: Loss of A$2,703,172). The Group has

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International

Accumulated Losses of A$27,997,987 (2014: Accumulated

Accounting Standards Board.

Losses of A$16,716,289). The balance of cash and cash
equivalents at 30 June 2015 is A$14,221,615 (2014: Cash

c) New accounting standards and interpretations

and cash equivalents A$22,764,774). The Group has pre-

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those

pared cash flow forecasts for the next twelve months that

of the previous financial year except as follows. The Group

show that the Group will be able to meet its debts as and

has adopted the following new and amended Australian

when they fall due. The directors are of the opinion that with

Accounting Standards and AASB Interpretations as of 1 July

the significant cash holdings the going concern basis of

2015:

accounting is justified.
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(Section continues on next page)

Reference

Title

AASB 2012-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
AASB 2012-3 adds application guidance to AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation to address
inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria of AASB 132, including clarifying the
meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement systems
may be considered equivalent to net settlement. The application of these amendments has impacted on the
applicable disclosures in the financial statements.

AASB 2013-3

Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
AASB 2013-3 amends the disclosure requirements in AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. The amendments
include the requirement to disclose additional information about the fair value measurement when the
recoverable amount of impaired assets is based on fair value less costs of disposal. The application of these
amendments has not impacted the financial statements.

AASB 2014-1
Part A -Annual
Improvements
2010–2012 Cycle

AASB 2014-1 Part A: This standard sets out amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
the issuance by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) of International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle and Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2011–2013 Cycle.
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle addresses the following items:
•

AASB 2 - Clarifies the definition of ‘vesting conditions’ and ‘market condition’ and introduces the definition
of ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’.
AASB 3 - Clarifies the classification requirements for contingent consideration in a business combination
by removing all references to AASB 137.

•

AASB 8 - Requires entities to disclose factors used to identify the entity’s reportable segments when
operating segments have been aggregated. An entity is also required to provide a reconciliation of total
reportable segments’ asset to the entity’s total assets.

•

safety in motion

•

AASB 116 & AASB 138 - Clarifies that the determination of accumulated depreciation does not depend on
the selection of the valuation technique and that it is calculated as the difference between the gross and
net carrying amounts.

The adoption of these amendments had no impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.
AASB 2014-1
Part A -Annual
Improvements
2011–2013 Cycle

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle addresses the following items:
•

AASB13 - Clarifies that the portfolio exception in paragraph 52 of AASB 13 applies to all contracts within
the scope of AASB 139 or AASB 9, regardless of whether they meet the definitions of financial assets or
financial liabilities as defined in AASB 132.

AASB 140 - Clarifies that judgment is needed to determine whether an acquisition of investment property
is solely the acquisition of an investment property or whether it is the acquisition of a group of assets or a
business combination in the scope of AASB 3 that includes an investment property. That judgment is based on
guidance in AASB 3.
The adoption of these amendments had no impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
c) New accounting Standards and interpretations (continued)
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2015. These are outlined in the table below.
Reference

Title

Application
date of
Standard

Application
date for
Group

Impact on the Group

AASB 9

Financial Instruments

1 January
2018

1 July 2018

The Group currently does not
have any hedge contracts nor
any financial assets carried at
fair value through profit or loss.
The application of this Standard
will not have a material impact
on the Group’s financial position
or performance.

1 January
2016

1 July 2016

The application of these
amendments will not have
a material impact on the
Group’s financial position or
performance.

AASB 9 (December 2014) is a new Principal standard which
replaces AASB 139. This new Principal version supersedes
AASB 9 issued in December 2009 (as amended) and AASB
9 (issued in December 2010) and includes a model for
classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking
‘expected loss’ impairment model and a substantiallyreformed approach to hedge accounting.
AASB 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018. However, the Standard is available for early
application. The own credit changes can be early applied
in isolation without otherwise changing the accounting for
financial instruments.
The final version of AASB 9 introduces a new expected-loss
impairment model that will require more timely recognition
of expected credit losses. Specifically, the new Standard
requires entities to account for expected credit losses
from when financial instruments are first recognised and
to recognise full lifetime expected losses on a more timely
basis.
Amendments to AASB 9 (December 2009 & 2010 editions
and AASB 2013-9) issued in December 2013 included the
new hedge accounting requirements, including changes to
hedge effectiveness testing, treatment of hedging costs, risk
components that can be hedged and disclosures.
AASB 9 includes requirements for a simpler approach
for classification and measurement of financial assets
compared with the requirements of AASB 139.

AASB
2014-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
AASB 2014-3 amends AASB 11 to provide guidance on the
accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations in
which the activity constitutes a business. The amendments
require:
(a) the acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the
activity constitutes a business, as defined in AASB 3 Business Combinations, to apply all of the principles on business
combinations accounting in AASB 3 and other Australian Accounting Standards except for those principles that conflict
with the guidance in AASB 11; and
(b) the acquirer to disclose the information required by AASB
3 and other Australian Accounting Standards for business
combinations.
This Standard also makes an editorial correction to AASB 11
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
c) New accounting Standards and interpretations (continued)
Reference

Title

Application date
of Standard

Application
date for
Group

Impact on the Group

AASB 15

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

1 January 2018

1 July 2018

The application of this
Standard may impact
on the measurement of
revenue for the Group.
The Group is currently
evaluating the impact of
the new standard.

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers, which replaces IAS 11
Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related
Interpretations (IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programs,
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate,
IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers and SIC-31
Revenue—Barter Transactions Involving Advertising
Services).
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity recognises
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. An entity
recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle
by applying the following steps:
(a) Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
(b) Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract
(c) Step 3: Determine the transaction price
(d) Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract
(e) Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation
Early application of this standard is permitted.
AASB 2014-5 incorporates the consequential
amendments to a number Australian Accounting
Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the
issuance of AASB 15.
AASB 2015-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
– Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting
Standards 2012–2014 Cycle
The subjects of the principal amendments to the
Standards are set out below:
AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations:
• Changes in methods of disposal – where an entity
reclassifies an asset (or disposal group) directly from
being held for distribution to being held for sale (or
vice versa), an entity shall not follow the guidance in
paragraphs 27–29 to account for this change.
AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
• Servicing contracts - clarifies how an entity should
apply the guidance in paragraph 42C of AASB 7 to a
servicing contract to decide whether a servicing contract
is ‘continuing involvement’ for the purposes of applying
the disclosure requirements in paragraphs 42E–42H of
AASB 7.
• Applicability of the amendments to AASB 7 to
condensed interim financial statements - clarify that
the additional disclosure required by the amendments
to AASB 7 Disclosure–Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities is not specifically required for all
interim periods. However, the additional disclosure
is required to be given in condensed interim financial
statements that are prepared in accordance with AASB
134 Interim Financial Reporting when its inclusion would
be required by the requirements of AASB 134.
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c) New accounting Standards and interpretations (continued)

Reference

Title

Application date
of Standard

Application
date for
Group

Impact on the Group

1 January 2016

1 July 2016

The application of this

AASB 119 Employee Benefits:
• Discount rate: regional market issue - clarifies that
the high quality corporate bonds used to estimate the
discount rate for post-employment benefit obligations
should be denominated in the same currency as the
liability. Further it clarifies that the depth of the market
for high quality corporate bonds should be assessed at
the currency level.

AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting:
• Disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim
financial report’ -amends AASB 134 to clarify the
meaning of disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the
interim financial report’ and to require the inclusion of a
cross-reference from the interim financial statements to
the location of this information.
AASB 2015-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –
Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101
The Standard makes amendments to AASB 101
Presentation of Financial Statements arising from the
IASB’s Disclosure Initiative project. The amendments
are designed to further encourage companies to apply
professional judgment in determining what information
to disclose in the financial statements. For example,
the amendments make clear that materiality applies to
the whole of financial statements and that the inclusion
of immaterial information can inhibit the usefulness
of financial disclosures. The amendments also clarify
that companies should use professional judgment in
determining where and in what order information is
presented in the financial disclosures.
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amendment would
impact on the disclosure
requirements in the
financial statements for
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)
d) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of Seeing Machines Limited and its subsidiaries (as
outlined in note 29) as at 30 June each year (the Group).
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group
has:
•
Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)
•
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee, and
•
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee
including:
The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
•
investee
•
Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
•
The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
(OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the
Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
e) Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of
the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value
and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in
administrative expenses.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts by the acquiree.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held
equity interest is re-measured at its acquisition date fair value and
any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised either in either profit or loss or as a
change to OCI. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope
of AASB 139, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate
AASB. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest
held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess
of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses
whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and
all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to
measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the
reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets
acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain
is recognised in profit or loss.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to
those units. Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss
on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
f) Current versus non-current classification
i) Functional and The Group presents assets and liabilities in
the statement of financial position based on current/noncurrent
classification. An asset is current when it is:
•
•
•
Or
•

•

Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in the
Group’s normal operating cycle
Held primarily for the purpose of trading
Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting
period
Cash or a cash equivalent unless restricted from being
exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period
The Group classifies all other assets as non-current.
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(continued)

those monetary items are also recorded in other
comprehensive income.

f) Current versus non-current classification (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the
date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined.

A liability is current when:
•
It is expected to be settled in the Group’s normal operating cycle
•
It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
•
It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period
Or
•
•There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability
for at least twelve months after the reporting period
•
The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
g) Segment Information – refer note 7
An operating segment is a component of the entity that engages
in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the
entity’s chief operating decision makers to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and asses its performance
and for which discrete financial information is available.
Management will also consider other factors in determining
operating segments such as the level of segment information
presented to the board of directors.
Operating segments that meet the qualitative criteria as prescribed
by AASB 8 are reported separately. However an operating segment
that does not meet the qualitative criteria is still reported separately
where information about the segment would be useful to users of the
financial statements.
A geographical segment is a distinguishable component of the entity
that is engaged in providing products or services within a particular
economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that
are different than those of segments operating in other economic
environments.

(iii) Group Companies
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated into Australian dollars at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of profit or
loss are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation
for consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of the other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operations
is recognised in the profit and loss.
i) Cash and cash equivalents – refer note 14
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an
original maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.
For the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
j) Inventories - refer note 16
Inventories including raw materials, work in progress and finished
goods are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and
condition are accounted for as follows:

h) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in
Australian dollars, which is also the Parent’s functional currency. For
each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. The Group uses the direct method of
consolidation and on disposal of a foreign operation, the gain or loss
that is reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises
from using this method.
(ii) Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the group
entities in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of
exchange ruling at the reporting date.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of monetary
items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net
investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed of, at
which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on
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Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods – purchase
cost on a first-in, first-out basis. The cost of purchase comprises
the purchase price, import duties and other taxes (other than those
subsequently recoverable by the entity from the taxing authorities),
transport, handling and other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of raw materials. Volume discounts and rebates are
included in determining the cost of purchase.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
k) Property, plant and equipment – refer note 18
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Such cost includes the cost
of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of
replacing the parts is incurred.
Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is
recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a
replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)
k) Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depending upon the sub-classification of the asset, the depreciation
is calculated on the diminishing value or straight line basis using the
following depreciation rates of the specific asset as follows:
Office furniture, fittings and equipment - 11.25% to 40%
Research and development software and equipment - 33.3%
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end.
Derecognition
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal.
l) Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a
lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires
an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
(i) Group as a lessee
Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the
leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance
charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are recognised as an expense in profit or loss.
Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term if there is no
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end
of the lease term.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Operating lease incentives are recognised as a
liability when received and subsequently reduced by allocating lease
payments between rental expense and reduction of the liability.
m) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or
when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written
down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the Group conducts an annual internal
review of asset values, which is used as a source of information
to assess for any indicators of impairment. External factors,
such as changes in expected future processes, technology and
economic conditions, are also monitored to assess for indicators of
impairment. If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of
the asset’s recoverable amount is calculated.
Impairment losses of continuing operations, including impairment
on inventories are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
expense categories consistent with the functions of the impaired
asset, except for the assets previously revalued with the revaluation
taken to OCI. For such assets, the impairment is recognised in OCI up
to the amount of any previous revaluation.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each
reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have
decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s
or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that
the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a
revaluation increase.
n) Intangibles – refer note 19
Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business combination
are initially measured at cost. The cost of an intangible asset
acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the date
of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets
are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible
assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised
and expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which
the expenditure is incurred.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over
the useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or
the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits
embodied in the asset are accounted for prospectively by changing
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change
in accounting estimate. The amortisation expense on intangible
assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense
category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash generating units),
to which the intangible relates. Such intangibles are not amortised.

109

notes to the financial statements

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)
n) Intangibles (continued)
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed at each reporting period to determine whether indefinite
life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
as a change in an accounting estimate and is thus accounted for on a
prospective basis.
Patents, Trademarks and Licenses
The Group made upfront payments to purchase patents and licences.
The patents have been granted for a period of 15-20 years, depending
on the patent, by the relevant government agency with the option of
renewal at the end of this period. Licences for the use of intellectual
property are granted for periods ranging between 3 and 20 years
depending on the specific licences.

only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or
sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability
of resources to complete the development and the ability to measure
reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during
its development. Following the initial recognition of the development
expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Any expenditure so capitalised
is amortised over the period of expected benefit from the related
project.
The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from development
expenditure is tested for impairment annually when the asset is
not yet available for use, or more frequently when an indication of
impairment arises during the reporting period.
Customer contracts
The Group acquired the customer contracts as a part of the
establishment of Seeing Machines Latin America SpA, which
included the transfer of the assets from GTD (the existing
distributor). The values of these contract was based on the future
revenue to be generated.

Research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising
from development expenditure on an internal project is recognised

A summary of the policies applied to the company’s intangible assets is as follows:
Patents & Trademarks

Licences

Development Costs of

Customer Contracts

assets in use
Useful lives

Finite

Finite

Finite

Finite

Amortisation method
used

15-20 years - Straight line

4-20 years Straight line

3-5 years - Straight line

Life of the contract

Internally generated /
acquired

Acquired

Acquired

Internally generated

Acquired

Impairment test /
Recoverable amount
testing

When an indicator of
impairment exists

When an indicator
of impairment
exists

Amortisation method
reviewed at each financial
year-end; Reviewed
annually for indicators of
impairment

When an indicator of
impairment exists

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised.
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o) Financial instruments - initial recognition and subsequent
measurement
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of
another entity.
(i) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets,
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.
All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the
case of financial assets not recorded at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. The Group does not have financial assets at fair
value through profit and loss and held-to-maturity investments.
Subsequent measurements
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR)
method, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included
in finance income in the statement of profit or loss. The losses
arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in finance costs for loans and in cost of sales or other operating
expenses for receivables.
Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities are classified as held-to-maturity when
the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them to
maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity investments
are measured at amortised cost using the EIR, less impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance income in the
statement of profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss as finance costs
Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets
AFS financial assets include equity investments and debt securities.
Equity investments classified as AFS are those that are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through
profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those that are
intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and that may be
sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
the market conditions.
After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently
measured at fair value with unrealised gains or losses recognised
as OCI and credited in the AFS reserve until the investment is

derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised
in other operating income in the statement of profit or loss, or the
investment is determined to be impaired when the cumulative loss is
reclassified from the AFS reserve to the statement of profit or loss in
finance costs. Interest earned while holding AFS financial assets is
reported as interest income using the EIR method in the statement
of profit or loss.
The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its AFS
financial assets in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets
due to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets if management has the ability and intention to hold
the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
For a financial asset reclassified from the AFS category, the fair
value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes its
new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on the asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over
the remaining life of the investment using the EIR. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using
the EIR. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then
the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement of
profit or loss.
De-recognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily de-recognised
(i.e. removed from the group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ”passthrough” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and
rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.
Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that
has occurred since the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred
‘loss event’) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications
that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
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financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.
Financial assets carried at amortised costs
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in
a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of
the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original EIR.
Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets
For AFS financial assets, the Group assesses at each reporting date
whether there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of
investments is impaired.
In the case of equity investments classified as AFS, objective
evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the investment below its cost. ’Significant’ is evaluated
against the original cost of the investment and ’prolonged’ against
the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost.
When there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss –
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss – is
removed from OCI and recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through
the statement of profit or loss; increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in OCI.
The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among
other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.
In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS, the impairment is
assessed based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at
amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the
cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
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investment previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
(ii) Financial Liabilities
Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the
reduced carrying amount of the asset, using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance
income. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the statement
of profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the
statement of profit or loss.
Initial Recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
loans and borrowings.
Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification, as described below:
Loans and Borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measures at amortised cost using the Effective
Interest Rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised in the
income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the EIR amortisation process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the EIR. The amortisation is in included in finance costs in the
statement of comprehensive income.
De-recognition
A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as the de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement or profit or loss.
Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)
p) Provisions – refer notes 22 and 25
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.
When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed,
for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement
is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is
presented in the statement of comprehensive income net of any
reimbursement.
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the reporting date using a discounted cash flow methodology. The
risks specific to the provision are factored into the cash flows and as
such a risk-free government bond rate relative to the expected life
of the provision is used as a discount rate. If the effect of the time
value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current
pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from
the passage of time is recognised in finance costs.
(i) Short-term employee benefits
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits
and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the
reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when the liabilities are settled. Expenses for non-accumulating
sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured
at the rates paid or payable.
(ii) Other long-term employee benefits
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised
in non-current liabilities, provided there is an unconditional right
to defer settlement of the liability. The liability is measured as the
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the
projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures,
and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted
using market yields at the reporting date on Corporate bonds with
terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible,
the estimated future cash outflows.
(iii) Warranty Provision
A provision is recognised for expected warranty claims on products
sold during the last 12 months, based on past experience of the level
of repairs and returns. It is expected that most of these costs will be
incurred in the next financial year. Assumptions used to calculate
the provision for warranties was based on the current information
available about returns based on the one year warranty period for all
products sold.

(q) Share-based payment transactions – refer note 31
The Group provides benefits to employees (including KMP and
directors in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby
employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over
shares (‘equity-settled transactions’).
The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by using the Monte Carlo
Method using a Trinomial model.
In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any
vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of
the shares of Seeing Machines Limited (market conditions).The
cost of equity–settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance conditions and/or service conditions are fulfilled (the
vesting period) ending on the date on which the relevant employees
become fully-entitled to the award (the vesting date).
At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the cumulative
charge to the statement of comprehensive income is the product of:
(i) The grant date fair value of the award.
(ii) The current best estimate of the number of awards that will vest,
taking into account such factors as the likelihood of employee
turnover during the vesting period and the likelihood of non-market
performance conditions being met.
(iii) The expired portion of the vesting period.
The charge to the statement of comprehensive income for the period
is the cumulative amount as calculated above less the amounts
already charged in previous periods. There is a corresponding entry
to equity.
If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. An
additional expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or if
otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of
modification.
If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph. The Employee share
option scheme was replaced on 1 July 2013 with an Employee Share
Loan Plan (ESLP). Refer to Note 31 for further details on ESLP.
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share
(see note 12).
(r) Contributed equity – refer note 26
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)
(s) Treasury Shares
Own instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are
recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Voting
rights related to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no
dividends are allocated to them.
(t) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable to the extent it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be
reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must
also be met before revenue is recognised:
(i) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when there is
persuasive evidence, usually in the form of an executed sales
agreement at the time of delivery of the goods to customer, indicating
that there has been a transfer of risks and rewards to the customer,
no further work or processing is required, the quantity and quality of
the goods has been determined, the price is fixed and generally title
has passed (for shipped goods this is the bill of lading date).
(ii) Licence fees
Revenue from licence fees is recognised when there is persuasive
evidence, usually in the form of a licence agreement at the time of
delivery of the goods to customer, indicating that there has been a
transfer of risks and rewards to the customer. Licences granted to
customers are perpetual licences for use of intellectual property
(usually in the form of software) with no further work or processing
required by the Group.
(iii) Rendering of services
Revenue from the support and consultancy is recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of a contract or contracts
in progress at reporting date or at the time of completion of the
contract and billing to the customer.
Stage of completion is measured by reference to labour hours
incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated labour hours
for each contract which is determined by a set quotation with the
customer. As the contracts are reasonably short, there is only a
small amount outstanding at reporting date, as such the level of
judgement required is minimal. When the contract outcome cannot
be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the
expenses recognised that are recoverable.
(iv) Interest revenue
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective
interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the
relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.
(v) Research and development refundable tax offset
Refundable tax offset received under the government’s research
and development scheme is recognised as revenue on receipt to
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the extent those costs have been expensed in the financial year.
Refundable tax offset related to research and development costs
capitalised in the financial year is deferred and recognised in the
relevant year, per the matching principle, proportionate to the
amortisation of these costs.
(u) Income taxes and other taxes – refer note 10
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable
income. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date in the countries where the group operates and generates the
taxable income. Current income tax relating to the items recognised
directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement of
comprehensive income.
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences except:
•

•

when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; or
when the taxable temporary difference is associated with
investments in subsidiaries, and the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences
and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses
can be utilised, except:
•

•

when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
when the deductible temporary difference is associated with
investments in subsidiaries, in which case a deferred tax asset
is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at
each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
Goods and service tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of
GST except:
•

•

when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is
not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset
or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of
GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the
statement of financial position.
Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis
and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and
financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority is classified as part of operating cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.
(v) Government grants
Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial
position as a liability when the grant is received.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis
to the costs that it is intended to compensate. They are not credited
directly to shareholders’ equity.
When the grant relates to an asset (development expenditure),
the fair value is credited to deferred income and is released to the
statement of comprehensive income over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
(w) Earnings per share – refer note 12
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to
members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing
equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any
bonus element.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to
members of the parent, adjusted for:
• Costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference
share dividends;
• The after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as
expenses; and

• Other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during
the period that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary
shares; divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus
element.
(x) Fair value measurements
The Group measures financial instruments and non-financial assets
at fair value at each balance sheet date. Also, fair values of financial
instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in Note
4. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either:
•
•

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible
to by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
•
•

•

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or
indirectly observable
Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
(y) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified to ensure
consistency with current year disclosures.
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4. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.
The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks, including interest rate and currency risk in accordance with the Group’s financial risk
management policy. The objective of this policy is to support the delivery of the Group’s financial targets whilst protecting future financial
security.
Primary responsibility for identification and control of risk rests with the Board. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
its risks identified below, including, credit allowances and future cash flow forecast projections.
Risk Exposures and Responses
Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to market interest rates relates to the Group’s short-term cash holdings. The Group did not enter into any forward
contracts during the 30 June 2015 financial year.
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is minimal.
At reporting date the Group had the following mix of financial assets exposed to variable interest rates at the designated variable interest rate
and are not designated in cash flow hedges:
Consolidated
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015

2014

A$

A$

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents:
Exposed to Australian variable interest rate risk

5,619,427

12,497,519

Exposed to United States of America variable interest rate risk

2,164,013

4,071,437

Exposed to United Kingdom variable interest rate risk

4,277,686

6,150,977

Exposed to Chile variable interest rate risk

2,160,489

-

14,221,615

22,719,933

Total cash and cash equivalents

Interest rate risk sensitivity
The Group’s policy is to not hedge against interest rate movements as funds held are in cash and short-term deposits.
At 30 June, 2015, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, post tax profit would have
been affected as follows:
Post Tax Profit
Higher / (Lower)
2015

2014

A$

A$

Consolidated
+ 1% (100 basis points)

189,821

130,429

- .5% (50 basis points)

(94,911)

(65,214)

The movement in Profit is due to interest rate change on cash balance.
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4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Foreign currency risk
As a result of significant sales in the North America, South America and Europe (denominated in those currencies), staffing costs and
significant purchases of inventory denominated in United States dollars, the Group’s statement of financial position can be affected by
movement in exchange rates generally and the US$/A$ exchange rate in particular. The Group seeks to mitigate the effect of its foreign
currency exposure by operating US Dollar bank accounts. Approximately 53% of the Group’s sales are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the operating entity making the sale, whilst approximately 34% of costs are denominated in the unit’s functional
currency.
The Group requires that on specific contracts with a value greater than A$200,000, the contract may be hedged to any level within the amount
of the contract. Group policy is that forward exchange contracts are limited to a total of A$2,000,000.
It is the Group’s policy not to enter into forward contracts until a firm commitment is in place and to negotiate the terms of the hedge
derivative to exactly match the terms of the hedged item to maximize hedge effectiveness. The Group did not enter into any forward contracts
during the 30 June 2015 financial year. Further, for the purpose of settlement of accounts that will likely occur within three months, funds
received may be held in a currency other than the unit’s functional currency to settle such amounts.
At 30 June 2015 the Group had the following exposure to foreign currency that is not designated in cash flow hedges:

Consolidated
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015

2014

A$

A$

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (US$)

2,164,013

4,071,437

Cash and cash equivalents (GB£)

4,277,686

6,150,977

Cash and cash equivalents (CLP)

2,160,489

-

Trade and other receivables (US$)

6,262,538

2,970,374

Trade and other receivables (EUR)

-

103,452

Trade and other receivables (CLP)

5,511

-

14,870,237

13,294,240

Trade and other payables (US$)

(1,301,237)

(218,095)

Trade and other payables (EUR)

(5,709)

(5,521)

Trade and other payables (GBP)

(3,221)

(24,211)

Trade and Other Payables (CLP)

(4,094)

-

Total
Financial Liabilities

Total

(1,314,261)

(247,827)

Net exposure

13,555,976

13,048,413
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4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)
The following sensitivity is based on the foreign currency risk exposures in existence at the reporting date:
Had the Australian dollar moved against major trading currencies, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant,
post tax profit and equity would have been affected as follows:
Post Tax Profit

Equity

Higher / (Lower)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Higher / (Lower)

2015

2014

2015

2014

A$

A$

A$

A$

Consolidated
Change in USD rate
AUD / foreign currency +10%
AUD / foreign currency -5%

(647,756)

(620,388)

(647,756)

(620,388)

375,017

359,143

375,017

359,143

(388,588)

(556,979)

(388,588)

(556,979)

224,972

322,461

224,972

322,461

(196,537)

-

(196,537)

-

113,785

-

113,785

-

519

(8,903)

519

(8,903)

(300)

5,154

(300)

5,154

Change in GBP rate
AUD / foreign currency +10%
AUD / foreign currency -5%
Change in CLP rate
AUD / foreign currency +10%
AUD / foreign currency -5%
Change in EUR rate
AUD / foreign currency +10%
AUD / foreign currency -5%

Management believes the reporting date risk exposures are representative of the risk exposure inherent in financial instruments.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and
derivative instruments. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amount of these instruments. Exposure at reporting date is addressed in each particular note.
The Group does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure.
Trade receivables
The Group trades only with recognized, creditworthy third parties, and as such collateral is not requested nor is it the Group’s policy to
securitise its trade and other receivables.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivables balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
Customer credit risk is managed in line with Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating to customer credit risk management.
The assessment of each customer is done on the payment history and the reputation and size of the customer. Outstanding customer
receivables are regularly monitored and followed up. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for all
customers.
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4. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Capital management and liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to raise finance as and when needed by share placement. Since the significant capital raise in December 2013, the
group has significant cashflow to manage the risks associated with liquidity and the directors continue to monitor the cashflow forecasts for
liquidity.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may undertake future capital raising by way of issue of new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or process for managing capital during the years ended 30 June 2015 and 2014.
The following table reflects all contractually fixed pay-offs and receivables for settlement, repayments and interest resulting from recognized
financial assets and liabilities, including derivative financial instruments as of 30 June 2015. For derivative financial instruments the market
value is presented, whereas for the other obligations the respective undiscounted cash flows for the respective upcoming fiscal years are
presented. Cash flows for financial assets and liabilities without fixed amount or timing are based on the conditions existing at 30 June 2015.
Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on management’s expectation.
The risk implied from the table below reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows. Trade payables and other financial liabilities
mainly originate from the financing of assets used in our ongoing operations such as plant, equipment and investments in working capital (eg.
inventories and trade receivables). To monitor existing financial assets and liabilities as well as to enable an effective controlling of future
risks, Seeing Machines Limited has established risk reporting systems that reflects expectations of management of expected settlement of
financial assets and liabilities.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

≤ 6 months

6 - 12 months

> 12 months

Total

A$

A$

A$

A$

Consolidated Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

14,221,615

-

-

14,221,615

7,105,391

83,244

166,488

7,355,323

-

238,462

-

238,482

21,327,206

321,706

166,488

21,815,420

4,075,472

-

-

4,075,472

4,075,472

-

-

4,075,472

17,251,734

321,706

166,488

17,739,948

Held to maturity financial assets
Consolidated Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Net inflow

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

≤ 6 months

6 - 12 months

> 12 months

Total

A$

A$

A$

A$

Consolidated Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

22,764,774

-

-

22,764,774

Trade and other receivables

5,502,755

-

-

5,502,755

28,267,529

-

-

28,267,529

Consolidated
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Interest bearing loans & borrowings
Net inflow

2,584,666

-

-

2,584,666

3,655

3,775

43,421

50,851

2,588,321

3,775

43,421

2,635,517

25,679,208

(3,775)

(43,421)

25,632,012

The group monitors rolling forecasts of liquidity reserves on the basis of expected cash flows.
Fair values
As at 30 June 2015, the carrying values of the financial instruments approximate their fair value. Long term loan held at 30 June 2014 was paid
out during the current financial period.
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5. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities,
contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements and estimates on historical experience and on other various
factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the result of which form the basis of the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.
Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgements, estimates and assumptions are made.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions and may materially affect financial results or the
financial position reported in future periods.
Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant notes to the financial statements.
a) Significant accounting judgments
Capitalised development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on an internal project is recognised only
when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the development and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Taxation
The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgement as to the types of arrangements considered to be a tax on
income in contrast to an operating cost. Judgement is also required in assessing whether deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax
liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position. Deferred tax assets, including those arising from unrecouped tax losses,
capital losses and temporary differences, are recognised only where it is considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, which is
dependent on the generation of sufficient future taxable profits.
Assumptions about the generation of future taxable profits and repatriation of retained earnings depend on management’s estimates of
future cash flows. These depend on estimates of future production and sales volumes, operating costs, restoration costs, capital expenditure,
dividends and other capital management transactions. Judgements are also required about the application of income tax legislation.
These judgements and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter
expectations, which may impact the amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised on the statement of financial
position and the amount of other tax losses and temporary differences not yet recognised. In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying
amounts of recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities may require adjustment, resulting in a corresponding credit or charge to the
statement of comprehensive income.
b) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions
Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses impairment of all assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group and to the particular asset
that may lead to impairment. These include product and manufacturing performance, technology, economic and political environments and
future product expectations. If an impairment trigger exists the recoverable amount of the asset is determined (higher of fair value less cost
of disposal and its value in use.).
Impairment of intangible assets and capitalised development costs
The Group determines whether intangible assets and capitalised development costs are impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units, using a value in use discounted cash flow methodology, to which the
intangibles with indefinite useful lives are allocated.
Share-based payment transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the
date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Hull White method using a trinomial model, with the assumptions
detailed in note 29. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact expenses and equity.
Estimation of useful lives of assets
The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience as well as manufacturers’ warranties (for plant and
equipment). In addition, the condition of the assets is assessed at least once per year and considered against the remaining useful life.
Adjustments to useful lives are made when considered necessary.
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6. Business combinations and acquisition of non-controlling interests
Formation of subsidiary
On 8th August 2014, Seeing Machines Limited incorporated a new entity Seeing Machines Latin America SpA registered in Chile with its
existing distributor GTD. The total capital invested in the new entity was US$1,036,364 (A$1,120,877). Seeing Machines Limited acquired 55%
shares in the new entity by investing in the form of cash and inventory. The following table represents fair value of net assets contributed for
the shares in Seeing Machines Latin America SpA:

Net Assets Contributed

US$

A$

Inventory

420,000

454,250

Cash

150,000

162,232

Customer Contracts

190,000

205,494

93,364

100,978

183,000

197,923

Fixed Assets
Business know how

1,036,364

1,120,877

Non-controlling interest

Total identifiable net assets

466,364

504,395

Purchase consideration transferred

570,000

616,482

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest in Seeing Machines Latin America SpA at carrying value which in this case is
represented by their share of the net assets in the entity.
From the date of incorporation, Seeing Machines Latin America SpA contributed $6,183,231 of revenue and $1,864,031 to profit before income
tax from continuing operations of the Group. The Business know how (Goodwill) of $197,923 comprises the fair value of expected synergies
arising from the acquisition.
Information about the subsidiary of the Group is provided in Note 29

7. Segment Information
The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the executive management team
(the chief operating decision makers) is assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources.
The operating segments are identified by management based on the country of origin. The Group operates in three geographical segments,
Australia, North America and South America. Transfer prices between geographical segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner
similar to transactions with third parties. Segment revenue, segment expense and segment result include transfers between business
segments. Those transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

(Continues on next page)
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7. Segment Information (Continued)
a) Geographical segments
The Group’s geographical segments are determined based on the location of the Group’s assets.
The following table presents revenue, expenditure and certain asset information regarding geographical segments for the years ended 30
June 2014 and 30 June 2015.
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Australia

United States

South America

Total

A$

A$

A$

A$

Revenue
Sales to external customers

18,983,771

-

-

7,359,915

1,082,411

8,442,326

18,983,771

-

1,082,411

27,426,097

Inter-segment sales
Total Segment Revenue

-

18,983,771

Inter-segment elimination

(8,442,326)

Total Consolidated Revenue

18,983,771

Income/ (Expenses)
Net gain/(loss) on foreign exchange

3,060,496

-

11,297

3,071,793

249,700

-

46,368

296,068

(551,971)

(26,714)

(198,245)

(776,930)

Net finance costs / Income
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of intangible assets

(146,555)

-

-

(146,555)

(11,620,008)

444,306

1,009,466

(10,166,236)

Total Assets as at 30 June 2015

30,750,413

1,457,871

4,029,625

36,237,909

Total Liabilities as at 30 June 2015

(3,962,075)

(724,180)

(1,417,368)

(6,103,623)

(3,007,279)

(62,974)

-

(3,070,253)

Segment profit/(loss)

Other Segment Information
Capital expenditure

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Australia

United States

South America

Total

A$

A$

A$

A$

Revenue
Sales to external customers
Inter-segment sales
Total Segment Revenue

16,756,392

-

-

16,756,392

-

1,713,945

-

1,713,945

16,756,392

1,713,945

-

18,470,337

Inter-segment elimination

(1,713,945)

Total Consolidated Revenue

16,756,392

Income/ (Expenses)
Net gain/(loss) on foreign exchange
Net finance costs / Income
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of intangible assets

(558,559)

-

-

(558,559)

110,084

-

-

110,084

(337,859)

(6,532)

-

(344,391)

-

-

-

-

Segment profit/(loss)

(2,734,045)

30,873

-

(2,703,172)

Total Assets as at 30 June 2015

32,668,815

298,013

-

32,966,828

(1,417,368)

(6,103,623)

(3,397,510)

(162,654)

-

(3,560,164)

(711,188)

(27,557)

-

(738,745)

Total Liabilities as at 30 June 2015

36,237,909

Other Segment Information
Capital expenditure
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7. Segment information (continued)
b) Segment revenue based on customer location
Revenue from external customers by geographical locations is detailed below. Revenue is attributed to geographical location based on the
location of the customer.
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

Australia

4,495,220

7,819,002

North America

4,783,004

4,308,304

South America

6,573,917

2,067,342

Other geographical regions

3,131,630

2,561,744

18,983,771

16,756,392

Total revenue

c) Segment revenue based on business units
Revenue from external customers by business units is detailed below. Business units reflect the group’s major product streams.
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

DSS

15,428,871

14,471,178

SM Fleet

2,575,226

FaceLAB

-

1,162,730

faceAPI

-

154,209

979,674

2,285,214

18,983,771

16,756,392

Core technology integration services
Total revenue

Revenue from one customer amounted to $1,899,703 (2014: $4,316,184) arising from sales by the DSS business unit.

8. Other Income
Consolidated

R&D grant recognised
Other

2015

2014

A$

A$
2,206,117

887,335

11,689

-

2,217,806

887,335

A total of $2,206,117 relating to Research and Development refundable tax offsets received from the Australian Taxation Office were
recognised during the year. (2014: $887,335). These are included in Other Income, and result from Research and Development expenditure in
the previous financial year. There are no conditions attached to this income.

(Continues on next page)
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9. Expenses
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

a. Depreciation, impairment, and amortisation expense
Depreciation expense

406,698

168,991

Amortisation expense

370,232

174,943

Impairment expense

146,555

-

Total

923,485

343,934

17,997,587

6,506,282

417,939

233,386

b. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries
Share-based payment expense
Wages and salaries capitalised to development costs

(1,792,331)

-

Total

16,623,195

6,739,668

Space intentionally left blank

(Continues on next page)

124

10. Income Tax
Consolidated
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015

2014

A$

A$

a) Income tax expense
The major components of income tax expense are:
Current income tax
Current income tax charge
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years
Taxation loss not recognised
Tax loss utilised – not previously recognised

(2,504,582)

374,217

-

-

2,973,506

-

-

(374,217)

Deferred income tax
Relating to the origination and reversal of timing differences
Temporary differences not recognised
Total

964,942

(226,358)

(964,942)

226,358

468,925

-

(10,166,236)

(2,703,172)

(3,049,871)

(810,952)

1,820,859

1,678,217

b) Numerical reconciliation between aggregate tax expense recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income calculated per the statutory income tax
rate
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of the accounting profit
before income tax multiplied by the Group’s applicable income tax rate is as
follows:
Total accounting profit / (loss) before income tax
At the parents entity's statutory income tax rate of 30% (2014: 30%)
Non-assessable R&D Refundable Tax Credits
Research and development – 2014 Total R&D Costs Claimed
Research and development – 2013 R&D tax credit (not assessable)

(661,835)

(313,527)

Research and development – “R&D Income”

(171,584)

(209,861)

Capitalised R&D costs

(435,792)

(104,647)

Capitalised Patent costs

(144,614)

(29,620)

4,309

2,539

Entertainment
Share based payments (equity settled)

91,469

70,016

Legal Fees

29,637

22,591

Temporary differences recognised
Temporary differences not recognised
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years
Taxation loss not recognised
Taxation loss utilised – not previously recognised

204,605

(156,897)

(964,942)

226,358

-

-

2,973,506

-

-

(374,217)

Effect of foreign tax rates

468,925

-

Controlled foreign company Australian tax attribution

304,792

-

Total

468,925

-
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10. Income Tax (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

c) Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:
i) Deferred tax liabilities
Interest receivable

-

-

Accelerated depreciation: plant and equipment

-

-

Intangible assets

(838,250)

(386,597)

Unrealised FX

(822,783)

-

Gross deferred tax liabilities

(1,661,033)

(386,597)

Set-off deferred tax assets

1,661,033

386,597

-

-

96,754

83,071

268,903

63,652

302,468

173,533

Long Service Leave

82,404

75,365

Provision for warranties

44,231

28,496

Net deferred tax liabilities
(ii) Deferred tax assets
Provision for Doubtful Debts
Accrued expenses
Provisions:
Annual Leave

S. 40-880 Deduction
Unrealised FX
Unearned revenue
Gross deferred tax assets
Set-off deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax balance not brought to account
Tax losses

438,399

417,213

-

141,264

58,929

-

1,292,088

982,594

(1,661,033)

(386,597)

(368,945)

595,997

5,671,946

3,046,796

Losses not recognized

(5,671,946)

(3,046,796)

Net deferred tax asset

-

-

d) Unrecognised temporary differences
At 30 June 2015 Seeing Machines Limited (consolidated) has unrecognised temporary differences in relation to unbooked tax losses
of $18,906,485 (DTA of $5,671,946) for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised on the statement of financial position (2014:
Unrecognised tax losses of $10,155,988 and DTA of $3,046,796). These losses are available for recoupment subject to satisfaction of relevant
statutory tests. For the year ended on 30 June 2015, there are unrecognised assessable temporary differences of $3,217,514 (DTL of $965,254)
for which no deferred tax liability has been recognised on the statement of financial position (2014: unrecognised deductible temporary
differences $754,528 and DTA of $226,358).

11. Dividends Paid and Proposed
No dividends or distributions have been made to members during the year ended 30 June 2015 and no dividends or distributions have been
recommended or declared by the directors in respect of the year ended 30 June 2015.
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12. Earnings Per Share
Basic EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Parent (after adjusting for interest on the convertible preference shares) by the sum of the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year and the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on
conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
The following reflects the income used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:
a) Earnings used in calculating earnings per share
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

For basic and diluted earnings per share:
Net Profit / (loss)

(11,281,698)

(2,703,172)

Net Profit / (loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the company

(11,281,698)

(2,703,172)

b) Weighted average number of shares
2015

2014

Number

Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share

870,187,109

658,082,944

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for effect of dilution

870,187,109

658,082,944

There are no instruments (eg. share options) excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share that could potentially dilute basic
earnings per share in the future because they are un-dilutive for either of the periods presented.
There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares outstanding between the reporting date and the date
of completion of these financial statements.

c) Information on the classification of securities
Options granted to employees (including KMP) as well as in the form of capital raising cost are described in note 29 are considered to be
potential ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share to the extent that they are dilutive. These
shares have not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share.
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13. Parent Entity Information

Information relating to Seeing Machines Limited

2015

2014

A$

A$

Current assets

27,809,062

30,975,108

Total assets

32,177,928

32,668,815

Current liabilities

4,410,158

3,223,740

Total liabilities

4,430,547

3,397,510

Issued capital
Accumulated losses

56,189,047

45,069,064

(29,753,815)

(16,805,009)

Share based payment reserve
Total shareholders’ equity

1,312,149

1,007,250

27,747,381

29,271,305

Profit (Loss) of the parent entity

(12,948,806)

(2,734,045)

Total comprehensive income of the parent entity

(12,948,806)

(2,734,045)

Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in Note 3, except, investments in
subsidiaries are accounted for at costs, less any impairment, in the parent entity.

14. Current Assets – Cash and Cash Equivalents
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

Cash at bank and in hand

6,174,355

22,720,086

Short-term deposits

8,047,260

44,688

14,221,615

22,764,774

Reconciliation to Cash Flow Statement
For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at 30 June:
Consolidated
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2015

2014

A$

A$

Cash at bank and in hand

6,174,355

22,720,086

Short-term deposits

8,047,260

44,688

14,221,615

22,764,774

15. Current Assets – Trade and Other Receivables
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

Current
Trade receivables

7,511,347

5,771,278

Provision for doubtful debts

(322,512)

(276,902)

7,188,835

5,494,376

Other receivables

-

8,379

7,188,835

5,502,755

Non-Current
Trade receivables

166,489

-

7,355,324

5,502,755

a) Allowances for impairment loss
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally 30-60 days terms. A provision for impairment loss is recognised when there is
objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. A provision for impairment loss of $322,512 (2014: $276,902) has been
recognised by the Group. See below for movement in the provision for impairment of receivables.
A$
At 1 July 2013

204,269

Charge for the year

195,833

Utilised

-

Unused amounts reversed

(123,200)

As at 30 June 2014

276,902

Charge for the year

126,200

Utilised

(19,904)
322,512

91+ days PDNI*

6,766,839

-

-

494,191

83,490

18,092

315,224

2014

5,771,279

4,781,322

256,998

-

655,806

51,798

5,451

19,904

91+ days PDI

61 - 90 days PDNI*

7,677,836

31 - 60 days PDNI

0 - 30 days not due

2015

impaired

Total

31 - 60 days not due

(60,686)

As at 30 June 2015

0 - 30 days not due

Unused amounts reversed

Receivables past due but not considered impaired are: Consolidated $595,773(2014: $713,055). Payment terms on these amounts have not
been re-negotiated. Direct contact has been made with relevant debtors and satisfaction has been gained that payment will be received in
full. Receivables past due and impaired are $315,224 (2014: $19,904).
Other balances within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is expected that other balances will
be received when due.
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15. Current Assets – Trade and Other Receivables (continued)
b) Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. Collateral is not held as security, nor is it the Group’s policy to transfer
(on-sell) receivables.
c) Foreign exchange risk
Detail regarding foreign exchange risk exposure is disclosed in note 4.

16. Current Assets - Inventories
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

Raw materials

139,734

252,271

Finished goods

2,157,514

1,065,966

Stock in transit

115,750

-

7,769,635

1,503,546

10,182,633

2,821,783

Work in progress
Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value

a) Inventory expense
Inventories recognised as an expense for the year ended 30 June 2015 totaled $6,987,865 (2014: $5,453,234) for the Group. This expense has
been included in cost of sales.

17. Other Current Assets
Consolidated
2014

A$

A$

Prepayments

205,305

112,294

Rental Bonds

19,605

20,257

224,910

132,551

Total
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18. Non-current Assets – Property, Plant and Equipment

a) Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the year

CONSOLIDATED

Office Furniture,
Fittings & Equipment

Research & Development
Software and Equipment

Total

A$

A$

A$

At 1 July 2014 net of accumulated depreciation and

188,917

267,391

456,308

Additions

597,757

187,402

785,159

Additions through the incorporation of a subsidiary

121,567

-

121,567

impairment

Disposals
Depreciation charge for the year
At 30 June 2015 net of accumulated depreciation and impair-

-

(93,122)

(93,122)

(293,299)

(113,399)

(406,698)

614,942

248,272

863,214

ment
At 30 June 2015
Cost

1,216,401

484,721

1,701,122

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

(601,459)

(236,449)

(837,908)

614,942

248,272

863,214

Office Furniture,
Fittings & Equipment

Research & Development
Software and Equipment

Total

A$

A$

A$

Net carrying amount

CONSOLIDATED
At 1 July 2013 net of accumulated depreciation and

181,701

200,351

382,052

Additions

121,141

170,048

291,189

Disposals

(46,115)

(1,826)

(47,941)

Depreciation charge for the year

(67,810)

(101,181)

(168,991)

At 30 June 2014 net of accumulated depreciation and impair-

188,917

267,392

456,309

impairment

ment
At 30 June 2014
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

497,077

603,285

1,100,362

(308,160)

(335,893)

(644,053)

188,917

267,392

456,309
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19. Non-current Assets – Intangible Assets and Development Costs
a) Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the year
Development
Costs
CONSOLIDATED
At 1 July 2014 net of accumulated

Patents, Licences
and Trademarks

Customer
Contracts

Goodwill

Total

A$

A$

A$

A$

A$

807,898

480,757

-

1,452,638

482,048

-

-

1,934,686

-

-

228,844

216,356

445,197

-

-

-

-

1,288,655

amortisation
Additions
Additions through incorporation of the
subsidiary
Disposal
Impaired

(146,535)

(20)

-

(146,555)

Amortisation

(132,884)

(84,096)

(153,252)

(370,232)

Transferred to non-current financial asset

(140,191)

-

-

-

(140,191)

1,840,926

878,689

75,589

216,356

3,011,560

1,840,926

1,345,561

228,841

216,356

3,631,684

-

(466,872)

(153,252)

-

(620,124)

1,840,926

878,689

75,589

216,356

3,011,560

Customer
Contracts

Goodwill

Total

(Note 20)
At 30 June 2015 net of accumulated
amortisation
At 30 June 2015
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount

Development
Costs
CONSOLIDATED
At 1 July 2013 net of accumulated

Patents, Licences
and Trademarks
A$

A$

A$

A$

A$

581,067

434,976

-

-

1,016,043

348,825

98,731

-

-

447,556

(121,994)

(52,950)

-

-

(174,944)

807,898

480,757

-

-

1,288,655

amortisation
Additions
Amortisation
At 30 June 2014 net of accumulated
amortisation
At 30 June 2014
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount

929,892

901,034

-

-

1,830,926

(121,994)

(420,277)

-

-

(542,271)

807,898

480,757

-

-

1,288,655

b) Description of Group’s intangible assets
i. Development costs
Development costs are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Development costs represent
costs incurred in the development phase of internal projects to bring the Group’s products to sale. This intangible asset has been assessed
as having a finite useful life and is amortised over a period of three years. Amortisation commences once the product is available for sale
and future economic benefits from development can arise. If an impairment indication arises, the recoverable amount is estimated and an
impairment loss is recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount.

132

19. Non-current Assets – Intangible Assets and Development Costs (continued)
ii. Patents, licenses and trademarks
Patents, licences and trademarks have been acquired and are carried at cost. These intangible assets have been determined to have useful
lives between 3 and 20 years and are amortised using the straight line method over the relevant period. Patents, licences and trademarks are
subject to impairment testing on an annual basis or whenever there is an indication of impairment.
c) Impairment losses recognised
i. Continuing operations
An impairment loss of $146,555 has been recognised in the year to 30 June 2015 (2014: $0). The amount represents the impairment of
development costs of DSS 3.1 and FOVIO which are no longer expected to derive any enduring benefit

20. Financial assets and financial liabilities
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

Available for sale financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investment in NuCoria Pty Limited

140,191

Total available for sale financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

140,191

-

Held to maturity financial assets
Term deposit

238,462

-

Total held to maturity financial assets

238,462

Total financial instruments at fair value

378,653

-

Total current

238,462

-

Total non-current

140,191

-

In October 2014 the Group transferred the development costs incurred on Truefield as an investment in NuCoria Pty Limited to commercialise
the Truefield Analyzer. NuCoria is currently not in operation and is in the process of raising further capital. Until the company has raised further
capital the fair value of the investment can’t be reliably measured, therefore the carrying approximates the fair value.

21. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Interest rate
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

%

Bank loan

6.4

Maturity

2015

2014

A$

A$
-

August 2018

-

(50,851)

Current

-

(7,430)

Non-current

-

(43,421)

Total Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

-

(50,851)

Interest-bearing Loan was used for the purchase of motor vehicle specifically for the purposes of research.
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21. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (continued)
Bank Loan
This loan was secured by the security on the motor vehicle and has been paid before the maturity date.
Fair Values
As at 30 June 2015, the financial instruments held by the Group at carrying amounts reasonably represent their fair value adjusted for any
capitalised borrowing costs.
Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities as at 30 June 2015:
Fair value measurement using
Date of

Total

valuation

Quoted price in

Significant

Significant

active markets

observable inputs

unobservable

(Level 1)

(Level 2)

inputs (level 3)

A$

A$

A$

A$
Liabilities for which fair values

-

are disclosed
Interest-bearing loans and

30 June 2014

49,147

-

49,147

-

30 June 2015

-

-

-

-

-

49,147

-

borrowings:
Fixed rate borrowing
Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings:
Fixed rate borrowing
Total

22.

Current Liabilities – Trade and Other Payables
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

Trade payables

1,500,941

1,048,007

Other payables

2,574,531

1,536,659

Total

4,075,472

2,584,666

a) Fair value
Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.
b) Foreign exchange, interest rate and liquidity risk
Information regarding foreign exchange, interest rate and liquidity risk exposure is set out in Note 4.
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23. Current Liabilities – Provisions
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

Annual Leave
Long service leave
Warranties provision
Total

1,008,226

578,446

254,291

246,038

147,438

94,985

1,409,955

919,469

a) Nature and timing of provisions
Refer to Note 3(p) for the relevant accounting policy and a discussion of the significant estimations and assumptions applied in the
measurement of the provisions.

24. Non-current Liabilities – Provisions
Consolidated
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

2015

2014

A$

A$

Long service leave

20,389

5,178

Total

20,389

5,178

(a) Nature and timing of provisions
Refer to note 3(p) for the relevant accounting policy and a discussion of the significant estimations and assumptions applied in the
measurement of the provision.

25. Warranties – Provisions
Maintenance Warranties
A$
As at 01 June 2013
Arising during the year

94,985

Utilised

-

Unused Amounts Reversed

-

As at 30 June 2014

94,985

Arising during the year

52,453

Utilised

-

Unused Amounts Reversed

-

As at 30 June 2015

147,438

The Group closely monitors the performance of DSS IVS Computer for the failure rate within warranty period to assess the likely warranty
costs. A warranty provision is recognized and revised based on this assessment.
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26. Contributed Equity
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

Ordinary Shares

57,490,870

45,776,174

Treasury Shares

(1,301,823)

(707,110)

56,189,047

45,069,064

a) Ordinary shares
Consolidated
2015
Issued and fully paid

2014

940,978,309

822,226,253

Fully paid shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.

Shares

A$

At 1 July 2013

480,507,968

17,049,175

Share issue

325,798,263

30,310,556

Treasury Shares issued

15,920,022

(707,110)

-

(1,583,557)

At 30 June 2014

822,226,253

45,069,064

Share issued

114,364,703

12,301,678

4,387,353

(594,713)

Transaction costs

Treasury Shares issued
Transaction costs
At 30 June 2015

-

(586,982)

940,978,309

56,189,047

The Treasury Shares were issued to Seeing Machines Executive Share Plan Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Seeing Machines Limited, which
holds the unvested shares on behalf of the employees who are beneficiaries of the Long Term Incentive Plan.

27. Retained Earnings and Reserves
a) Movements in Retained earnings and reserves
Refer to the Statement of Changes in Equity for movements in retained earnings (accumulated losses) and other reserves.
b) Nature and purpose of reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries.
Employee equity benefits reserve
The employee equity benefits reserve is used to record the value of share based payments provided to employees, including KMP, as part of their
remuneration. Refer to note 29 for further details of the plan.
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28. Cash Flow Statement Reconciliation
Consolidated
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

2015

2014

A$

A$

a) Reconciliation of net profit / (loss) after tax to net cash flows from
operations
Profit / (loss) after tax

(10,635,161)

(2,703,172)

Depreciation

406,698

152,082

Amortisation

216,980

174,944

(2,826,977)

470,881

(222)

41,364

146,555

-

Share-based payments

417,939

233,386

Amortisation of customer contracts

153,252

-

Provision for income tax

381,790

-

Bad debts

19,904

(12,732)

Warranties expense

52,453

94,985

Net loss on foreign exchange (unrealised)
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of the assets
Impairment loss recognised

Doubtful debt expense

45,610

72,633

(10,232)

(24,421)

(Increase) / decrease in inventories

(6,433,066)

(1,962,440)

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables

(1,438,632)

(1,937,172)

Foreign tax withholdings
Changes in assets / liabilities

(253,484)

(7,594)

Increase / (decrease) in provisions

Decrease / (increase) in other assets

438,035

178,981

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables

698,950

4,374

(18,619,608)

(5,223,900)

113,042

-

Net Cash used in operating activities
Non-cash financing activities

29. Related Party Disclosure
a. Information about subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Seeing Machines Limited and its subsidiaries’ details are as follows:
% Equity Interest

Investment (A$)

Country of
Name

Incorporation

Seeing Machines Incorporated

United States

Seeing Machines Latin America SpA

Chile

Seeing Machines Executive Share Plan Pty Ltd

Australia

2015

2014
100%

2015

2014

100%

770,307

770,307

55%

-

616,482

-

100%

100%

100

100

Seeing Machines Share Plans Trust

Australia

100%

100%

10

10

Seeing Machines (Sales) Pty Ltd

Australia

100%

100%

12

12

137

notes to the financial statements

29. Related Party Disclosure (continued)
Seeing Machines Incorporated was incorporated in Delaware, United States on 21 April 2008.
Seeing Machines Latin America SpA was incorporated in Santiago, Chile on 8 August 2014.
Seeing Machines Executive Share Plan Pty Limited was incorporated in the Australian Capital Territory, Australia on 20 May 2013.
Seeing Machines Executive Share Plans Trust was settled in the Australian Capital Territory, Australia on 31 May 2013.
Seeing Machines (Sales) Pty Limited formerly known as Truefield Ophthalmic Devices Pty Limited was incorporated in Victoria, Australia on 9 April
2013.
b. Materially owned subsidiaries
Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are provided below:
Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:
Name

Country of incorporation

Seeing Machines Latin America SpA

2015

2014

Chile

45%

-

Accumulated balances of material non-controlling interests:
Name

Country of incorporation

2015

2014

Accumulated balances of material non-controlling interest
Seeing Machines Latin America SpA

1,175,516

-

646,537

-

Profit allocated to material non-controlling interest
b) Key management personnel

The summarised financial information of these subsidiaries are provided below. The information is based on amounts before inter-company
eliminations.
Summarised statement of profit or loss for Seeing Machines Latin America SpA.
Revenue
Cost of sales

2015

2014

6,183,231

-

(3,325,395)

-

Administrative expenses

(993,805)

-

Profit before tax

1,864,031

-

Income tax

(427,282)

-

Profit for the year from continuing operations

1,436,749

-

Total comprehensive income

1,436,749

-

646,537

-

-

-

2015

2014

3,617,891

-

Attributable to non-controlling interest
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
Summarised statement of financial position for Seeing Machines Latin America SpA.

Inventories, cash and bank balances and other non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment and other non-current financial assets

411,734

-

(1,417,368)

-

-

-

2,612,257

-

Equity holders of parent

1,436,741

-

Non-controlling interests

1,175,516

-

Trade and other payables (current)
Other non-current assets
Total Equity
Attributable to:
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29. Related Party Disclosure (continued)
Summarised cash flow information for Seeing Machines Latin America SpA.

Operating

2015

2014

1,990,565

-

Investing
Financing
Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents

-

-

195,313

-

2,185,878

-

c. Key management personnel
Details relating to key management personnel, including remuneration paid are included in note 30.
d. Transactions with related parties
In 2011, Seeing Machines Limited (the parent entity) converted an intercompany loan in its subsidiary, Seeing Machines Inc. to equity as per
note 29(a) above.
Seeing Machines Latin America(SMLA) buys hardware and software services from Seeing Machines Limited for the purpose of resale to its
customers.
GTD services some customers on behalf of SMLA and recovers the cost of supplying these services from SMLA.
The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties for the relevant financial year.
Sales to related
parties

Purchases from
related parties

Amounts owed by
related parties

Amounts owed to
related parties

A$

A$

A$

A$

Seeing Machines Latin America
SpA
2014

-

-

-

-

2015

1,082,411

-

415,877

-

2014

-

1,712,536

-

206,819

2015

-

7,359,915

-

1,303,916

2014

-

-

-

-

2015

3,158,390

2,485,989

-

-

Seeing Machines Inc

GTD Ingenieria de Sistemas SpA

The intercompany balances are eliminated on consolidation.

139

notes to the financial statements

29. Related Party Disclosure (continued)
e. Director-related transactions
i) Shareholdings of Directors
Shares in Seeing Machines Limited

Balance
30 JUNE 2015

Granted as

01 July 2014

Remuneration

Acquired or sold

Net chance

Balance

for cash

other

30 June 2015

Directors
T Winters

1,632,166

-

K Kroeger

2,272,357

D Gaul2

3,300,000

1

M Roberts

-

-

1,632,166

-

-

-

2,272,357

-

100,000

-

3,400,000

13,495,376

-

(8,500,000)

-

4,995,376

-

-

-

-

-

R Burger
J A Walker
J D Walker3
Total

-

-

-

-

-

320,000

-

280,000

-

600,000

21,019,899

-

(8,120,000)

-

12,899,899

Acquired or sold

Net chance

Balance

for cash

other

30 June 2014

Balance
30 JUNE 2014

Granted as

01 July 2013

Remuneration

Directors
T Winters

1,632,166

-

-

-

1,632,166

K Kroeger1

1,592,357

-

680,000

-

2,272,357

3,353,128

113,850

(166,978)

-

3,300,000

14,421,450

-

(926,074)

-

13,495,376

D Gaul2
M Roberts
R Burger

-

-

-

-

-

J A Walker

-

-

-

-

-

J D Walker3

-

-

320,000

-

320,000

20,999,101

113,850

(93,052)

-

21,019,899

Total

Notes
1. K Kroeger holds shares through Cook Kroeger Superannuation Fund.
2. D Gaul holds shares through Jaiclimb Pty Limited.
3. J D Walker holds shares through Kirri Cove Pty Limited ATF Kirri Cove Superannuation Fund.
4. K Kroeger has been issued with 1,286,503 share options (2014: 5,606,250) as part of executive remuneration.
5. J D Walker has been issued with 618,513 share options (2014: 2,073,019) as part of executive remuneration.

ii) Other Director related transactions
All transactions with director-related entities were made under normal commercial terms and conditions.
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30. Key Management Personnel
a. Details of Key Management Personnel
ii) Executives (Other Key Management Personnel)

i) Directors
Terry Winters		

Non Executive Chairman

Paul Angelatos		

Chief Operating Officer

Ken Kroeger		

Managing Director & CEO

Tim Edwards		

Chief Technology Officer

David Gaul		

Non Executive Director

David Nagy		

Senior Vice President Product Management

Michael Roberts		

Non Executive Director

Sebastian Rougeaux

Principal Research Scientist

Rudolph Burger		

Non Executive Director

James A Walker 		

Non Executive Director

James D Walker 		

Executive Director

b) Compensation for Key Management Personnel
A$

A$

Short-term

Post-Employment

Salary / Fees /
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015

A$

Bonus

A$

Share-Based

Total

Payments

Superannuation

Options / Rights

Chairman
T Winters

74,500

7,078

20,833

102,411

K Kroeger

466,058

38,279

140,131

644,468

J D Walker

319,311

27,627

38,929

385,867

D Gaul

37,138

3,528

10,417

51,083

M Roberts

39,630

-

12,500

52,130

R Burger

43,136

-

10,417

53,553

Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors

J A Walker

43,447

-

12,500

55,947

1,007,761

352,427

81,818

1,442,006

2,030,981

428,939

327,545

2,787,465

72,000

6,660

-

78,660

K Kroeger

309,140

28,595

108,964

446,699

J D Walker

309,000

25,381

31,996

366,377

Other Key Management Personnel
Total

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
Chairman
T Winters
Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors
D Gaul

28,056

2,595

-

30,651

A Zelinsky

63,500

-

-

63,500

M Roberts

19,445

-

-

19,445

R Burger

19,318

-

-

19,318

J A Walker
Other Key Management Personnel
Total

4,253

393

-

4,646

458,788

27,750

49,298

535,836

1,283,500

91,374

190,258

1,565,132

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as an expense during the reporting period related to key management
personnel.
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31. Share-based payment plans
a) Recognised share-based payment expenses
The expense recognised for employee services received during the year is shown in the table below:
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

Expense arising from share-based payment transactions under Employee

304,897

share Loan
Expense arising from the shares issued to the employees

113,042

Total expense arising from share-based payment transactions

417,939

233,386

233,386

b) Type of share-based payment plan
Employee share option scheme (ESOS)
The previous disclosed ESOS was replaced on 1 July 2013 with an Employee Share Loan Plan (ESLP) where eligible employees are invited to
participate in the ESLP from time to time.
Employee share loan plan (ESLP)
Eligible employees are invited to participate in the ESLP from time to time. The share issue price is equal to the market value of the shares
or as determined by the Board on the date of the invitation to apply for options over the shares. Under the terms of the ESLP, employees are
provided with non-recourse loans which will be extinguished if the employee chooses to acquire the shares by applying the exercise price of
the option at any time after the vesting date.
All the shares issued after 30 June 2013 are under the new ESLP. Under this scheme awards are delivered in the form of options over shares
which vest over a period of three years subject to meeting performance measures. The Company uses Target Share Price (TSP) as the
performance measure for the ESLP. The vesting schedule is as follows:

Relative TSP performance outcome

Percentage of award that will vest

Below the 90th percentile

0%

At the 90th percentile

50%

At the 95th percentile

75%

At the 100th percentile

100%

c) Summaries of options granted:

Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Forfeited during the year
Exercised during the year

2015

2014

No.

WAEP (cents)

2014

No.

WAEP (cents)

18,920,020

5.56

615,415

8.44

4,684,232

11.06

18,920,020

5.56

-

-

(615,415)

(8.44)

-

-

-

-

Expired during the year

(3,000,000)

(5.56)

-

-

Outstanding at 30 June

20,604,252

6.04

18,920,020

5.56

2,803,125

3.04

3,000,000

5.56

Exercisable at 30 June
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31. Share-based payment plans (continued)
d) Weighted average remaining contractual life
The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at 30 June 2015 is 366 days (2014: 715 days).
e. Weighted average fair value
There were no options granted during the current year or prior year.
f. Option pricing model: ESLP
The fair value of the equity-settled shares granted under the new ESLP is estimated as at the grant date using the Monte Carlo method taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the shares were granted.
The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ended 30 June 2015 the year in which shares were issued:
Grant 1 July 2014
Weighted average share price (gb pence)

5.63

Share issue price (gb pence)

6.12

Risk free interest rate (%)

1.5

Expected life of shares (years)

3

Dividend yield (%)

0.0

Volatility (%)
Model Used

77.7
Monte Carlo

The effects of early exercise have not been incorporated into the calculations. The expected volatility was determined using AIM indices for
similar industries. The expected volatility therefore reflects the assumption that the chosen industry volatilities will be similar to that of
Seeing Machines Limited, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

32. Commitments
a) Leasing commitments
Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee
The Group has four operating leases, two operating leases on properties in Australia, one in US and one in Chile.
Future minimum rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows:
Consolidated

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
Total

2015

2014

A$

A$

437,364

304,903

96,383

398,846

533,747

703,749

Finance leases and hire purchase commitments – Group as lessee
The Group has no finance leases or hire purchase commitments for items of property, plant and equipment.
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33. Contingencies
a. Contingent asset relating to R&D Refundable Tax Offsets
A contingent asset exists with respect to refundable tax offsets under the Government R&D scheme. The value of this asset has not been
brought to account as its realisation is dependent on assessments by AusIndustry and the Australian Taxation Office. The estimated value of
this claim for 2014-15 is approximately A$5,497,584, resulting in estimated refundable offsets of A$2,473,913, which will be brought to account
as income when received except to the extent it relates to costs which have now been capitalised. This is expected to be in the 2015-16
financial year.

34. Events after the reporting date
Following the year end, Research and Development expenditure claims have been finalised and pending lodgement with AusIndustry. Subject
to assessment by AusIndustry and the Australian Taxation Office, refundable tax offsets totaling A$2.5 million is expected to be received in
November 2015.
On 14th September 2015 the Company signed a global product development, licensing and distribution agreement with Caterpillar Inc., as
the final phase of the original alliance between the two companies announced in May 2013. Under this new agreement, Caterpillar will take
over responsibility for manufacturing, marketing and sales of Seeing Machines’ existing DSS rugged off-road product. Caterpillar will also
have distribution rights for Seeing Machines Fleet product, exclusive within the agreed Caterpillar industries and nonexclusive outside these
industries. Caterpillar will exclusively market DSS and Seeing Machines Fleet products as their only in-cab operator fatigue and distraction
monitoring solutions in the agreed Caterpillar industries (mining, construction, cement and quarry, paving, forestry, marine and industrial
operations).
Caterpillar will pay the Company a fee of US$17.5 million over four years, plus an ongoing royalty on the sale of DSS hardware to Cat®
Dealers and on all DSS and Fleet related software licensing, monitoring and analytics services. Caterpillar will also purchase Seeing
Machines’ inventory of existing DSS units. In addition to these revenues, Seeing Machines will provide engineering services to extend product
functionality as well as develop new computer vision related technologies for Caterpillar. Current DSS customer service contracts will be
transitioned to Caterpillar.

35. Auditor’s remuneration
The auditor of Seeing Machines Limited is Ernst & Young.
Consolidated
2015

2014

A$

A$

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young (Australia) for:
•

An audit or review of the financial report of the entity and any other entity

89,000

73,000

15,000

-

19,170

8,000

123,170

81,000

in the consolidated group
•

Assurance services on transition to the new finance system

•

Other services in relation to the entity and any other entity in the
consolidated group:
-Tax compliance
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directors’ declaration
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Seeing Machines Limited, I state
that:
1.

In the opinion of the directors:
a) The financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity is in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
i)

Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial
position as at 30 June 2015 and of its performance for the year
ended on that date; and

ii) Complying with Accounting Standards (including Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and Corporations Regulations 2001.
b) The financial statements and notes comply with the international
financial reporting Standards as disclosed in note 3 (b); and
c) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.
2.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required
to be made to the directors in accordance with section 295A of the 		
Corporations Regulations 2001 for the financial year ending 30 June 2015.

On behalf of the Board

Terry Winters
Chairman
Canberra, 18 September 2015
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Seeing Machines Limited

Ernst & Young
121 Marcus Clarke Street
Canberra ACT 2600 Australia
GPO Box 281 Canberra ACT 2601

Tel: +61 2 6267 3888
Fax: +61 2 6246 1500
ey.com/au

Independent auditor's report to the members of Seeing Machines Limited
Report on the financial report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Seeing Machines Limited, which comprises the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information, and the directors' declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the
company and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors' responsibility for the financial report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for
such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the financial
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 3(b), the directors
also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that
the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor's responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and
fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting our audit we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001. We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Opinion
In our opinion:
a.

b.

t he financial report of Seeing Machines Limited is in accordance wit h t he Corporations Act 2001,
including:
i

giving a t rue and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2015
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

ii

complying wit h Australian Account ing Standards and t he Corporations Regulations 2001;
and

t he financial report also complies wit h Internat ional Financial Report ing Standards as disclosed in
Note 3(b).

Ernst & Young

Ben Tansley
Partner
Canberra
18 September 2015

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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